Utah State University DigitalCommons@USU

All Graduate Theses and Dissertations

**Graduate Studies** 

5-1969

# Catalytic Effect of Soil Components on the Nitrite Transformation in Buffer Acid Solutions

Laxman G. Kuratti Utah State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd

Part of the Soil Science Commons

# **Recommended Citation**

Kuratti, Laxman G., "Catalytic Effect of Soil Components on the Nitrite Transformation in Buffer Acid Solutions" (1969). *All Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 3811. https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/etd/3811

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Studies at DigitalCommons@USU. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@USU. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@usu.edu.



# CATALYTIC EFFECT OF SOIL COMPONENTS ON THE NITRITE

TRANSFORMATION IN BUFFER ACID SOLUTIONS

by

Laxman G. Kuratti

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

of

# DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Soil Science

UTAH STATE UNIVERSITY Logan, Utah

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I express my heartfelt gratitude and appreciation to Dr. R. L. Smith for his assistance, guidance and encouragement throughout, ever since I started here in 1964.

I also express my sincere gratitude to Dr. J. J. Jurinak for helping me in certain areas of this investigation.

I am thankful to the members of the Committee, Dr. H. B. Peterson, Dr. H. H. Weibe, and Dr. H. O. Van Orden for their valuable suggestions and guidance.

I am grateful to the Council for Research of Utah State University for the financial assistance during one year of the program.

Laxman G. Kuratti:

Laxman G. Kuratti

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

							Page
INTRODUCTION	•		•		•		1
REVIEW OF LITERATURE	0			•	e		3
Factors Influencing Nitrite Accumulation	e	D.		•	۰	•	3
Soil pH			¢		8		3
Direct effect		e					4
Indirect effect		e	•	•	0	•	4
Nitrogen fertilizer	•			•		5	6
Organic matter			c	0	•	0	0
Soil temperature			•	•		0	6
Photochemical processes	•	•	•		¢	•	6
Production of the Oxides of Nitrogen .	•	٠	•	0		¢	7
Dismutation of nitrous acid							7
Role of transition metals	•	•	•	•	•	0	8
Transformation of the Oxides of Nitrogen	a				•		9
To pitrates							9
To elemental nitrogen		•					10
MATERIALS AND METHODS			•			0	11
Preparation of the Media	0	e	,	e		•	11
Preparation of buffer solution used							11
Soils used	•						11
Preparation of soil	0					0	13
Fractionation of soil components .	¢	•	•	•	0	0	13
Apparatus Used	0	e		0		e	14
Analysis of the Different Forms of Nitroger	1	e		*	0		16
Nitrate and nitrite	6	•				•	16
Pure buffer solution		0		0			16
Soil or soil components in buffer	r se	olu	tion	1			17
Oxides of nitrogen	0	e				0	17
Experiments	6					•	1.8

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

		1	Page
Kinetic studies			18
Catalytic effect on nitrite decomposition and			
creation of deficit			18
Effect of soils			18
Effect of soil fraction			18
Effect of activated organic complex .			19
Effect of amino acide			19
Effect of antho actus		•	
EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS	• •		20
Kinetic Studies			20
Allecte bedates i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i			
Solution systems			20
Solucion systems & a a a a a a a a			
Solution system at pH 3			20
Solution system at pH /			20
Solution system at pH 4	• •	· · · ·	20
Solution system at ph 5		a	20
Solution system treated with soils		6	30
C. L. M. C. J. C. J. C. H. C. Harden J. and the 10 of	a et 1		20
Solution system of pH 3 treated with 10 g	SOLL	e	20
Solution system of pH 4 treated with 10 g	SOIL	e	20
Solution system of pH 5 treated with 10 g	SOIL	•	30
Catalytic Effect on Nitrite Decomposition and Creat	Lon		12
of Deficit , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	• •		43
			10
Effect of soil		0	43
Effect of soil fractions			43
Effect of activated organic complex .	• •		48
Effect of amino acids	• •	0	48
DISCUSSION	o n		54
Kinetic Studies	o e	0	54
Solution systems .		α	54
Solution systems treated with soil			55
Catalytic effect of nitrite decomposition and			
creation of deficit			56
Effect of soils			56
Effect of soil fractions			57
Effect of activated organic complex			58
Effect of amino acide			60
Effect of allitho actus a a a a a a a	e e		00

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

																			Page
SUMMARY ANI	) C(	ON CI	JUS	IONS	5	•		0		•				e	•			•	62
IMP ROVEMENT	rs .	AND	FU	TURI	Ξ	LINE	OF	WC	ORK			0	o	e	•	0		۰	64
LITERATURE	CI	TED	0	۰	0		e		•	٠			•		e	•		0	65
APPENDIX	0			•	0	۰	e	0	0	•					•	•	р		72
VITA							0		0		0	0				•			80

#### LIST OF TABLES

Tab	le	Page
1.	Quantities of sodium phosphate and a citric acid used to make 100 ml of pH 3, 4, and 5 buffer solution $\ldots$ .	12
2.	Some of the physical and chemical characteristics of the soils used in this investigation	12
3.	Amounts of NO $\overline{2}$ -N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 3 when 150 ppm NO $\overline{2}$ -N was added as NaNO $_2$	21
4 .	Amounts of NO $_2^N$ found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 4 when 150 ppm NO $_2^N$ was added as NaNO $_2$	24
5.	Amounts of $NO_2^-$ -N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 5 when 150 ppm $NO_2^-$ -N was added as NaNO2	27
6.	Amount of NO $_2^-$ -N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 3 treated with 10 g Miami silt loam and receiving 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ -N	31
7.	Amount of NO $_2^-$ -N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 3 treated with 10 g Dayton silty clay loam and receiving 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ -N .	32
8.	Amount of NO $_2^-$ -N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 4 treated with 10 g Miami silt loam and receiving 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ -N.	35
9.	Amount of NO $\overline{2}$ -N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 4 treated with 10 g Dayton silty clay loam and receiving 150 ppm NO $\overline{2}$ -N .	36
10.	Amount of NO $\overline{2}$ -N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 5 treated with 10 g Miami silt loam soil and receiving 150 ppm NO $\overline{2}$ -N .	39
11.	Amount of NO $_2^-$ –N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 5 treated with 10 g Dayton silty clay loam and receiving 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ –N $_*$ ,	40
L2.	Amounts of various forms of nitrogen found after a 6-hour reaction period in different media of pH 3	
	which received 150 ppm NO2 -N as NaNO2	44

Table

13.	Amounts of various forms of nitrogen found after a 6-hour reaction period in different media of pH 5 which received 150 ppm $\mathrm{NO}_2^-$ -N as $\mathrm{NaNO}_2$	44
14.	The amounts of NO $_2$ -N remaining, NO $_3$ -N formed, and the oxides (NO + NO $_2$ ) trapped after a 6-hour reaction period in solution system of pH 3 treated with 10 g of three different incubated soils (at 30 C and 1/3 bar moisture for 15 days) and receiving 150 ppm NO $_2$ -N	51
15.	The amounts of NO $_2^-$ -N remaining, NO $_3^-$ -N formed, and the oxides (NO + NO $_2$ ) trapped after a 6-hour reaction period in solution system of pH 5 treated with 10 g of three different incubated soils (at 30 C and 1/3 bar moisture for 15 days) and receiving 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ -N	51
16.	Amounts of $NO_2^ N$ remaining, $NO_3^ N$ formed, and oxides (NO + NO <sub>2</sub> ) trapped in solution systems of pH 3 and 5 treated with 10 g of Miami silt loam and three different amino acids	53
17.	The comparison of rate constants of $\mathrm{NO}_2^\mathrm{N}$ decomposition in different media	55
18.	The comparison of deficits noted at the end of a 6-hour reaction period in the solution systems treated with 10 g incubated and non-incubated soils receiving 150 ppm $\rm NO_2^-N$ .	60
19.	The amounts of various forms of nitrogen recovered from solution systems of pH 3 treated with different fractions of three soils and receiving 150 ppm $NO_2^ N$ at the end of a 6-hour reaction period	73

vii

Page

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure		Page
1. A t	Apparatus and set-up for experiments where NO $_2^-$ -N was allowed to decompose and the oxides were trapped	15
2. A s	Amount of NO $_2^-$ -N recovered at various intervals from the solution system of pH 3 to which 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ -N was added as NaNO $_2$	22
3. I i v	Logarithm of concentration of NO $_2^-$ –N recovered versus time in the solution system of pH 3 to which 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ –N was added as NaNO $_2$	23
4。 / s	Amount of $NO_2^-$ -N recovered at various intervals from the solution system of pH 4 to which 150 ppm $NO_2^-$ -N was added as $NaNO_2^-$	25
5• I i	Logarithm of concentration of NO $_2^-$ –N recovered versus time in the solution system of pH 4 to which 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ –N was added as NaNO $_2$	26
6. <i>1</i> s	Amount of NO $\overline{2}$ -N recovered at various intervals from the solution system of pH 5 to which 150 ppm NO $\overline{2}$ -N was added as NaNO $_2$	28
7 . I	Logarithm of concentration of NO $_2^-$ –N recovered versus time in the solution system of pH 5 to which 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ –N was added as NaNO $_2$	29
8, 1 1	Logarithm of $NO_2^-$ -N found in the solution system of pH 3 treated with 10 g Miami silt loam and receiving 150 ppm $NO_2^-$ -N added as $NaNO_2^-$	33
9 . I	Logarithm of concentration of NO $_2^-$ –N recovered from the solution system of pH 3 treated with 10 g of Dayton silty clay loam and receiving 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ –N added as NaNO $_2^-$ ,	34
10. 1	Logarithm of concentration of NO $_2^-$ -N recovered from the solution system of pH 4 treated with Miami silt loam and receiving 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ -N added as NaNO $_2^-$ -	37
11. 1	Logarithm of concentration of NO $_2^-$ -N recovered from the solution system of pH 4 treated with 10 g Dayton silty clay loam and receiving 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ -N added as NaNO $_2^-$ , , , ,	38

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figur	re	Page
1.	Apparatus and set-up for experiments where $\rm NO_2^N$ was allowed to decompose and the oxides were trapped	15
2.	Amount of $NO_2^-$ -N recovered at various intervals from the solution system of pH 3 to which 150 ppm $NO_2^-$ -N was added as $NaNO_2$	22
3,	Logarithm of concentration of $NO_2^ N$ recovered versus time in the solution system of pH 3 to which 150 ppm $NO_2^ N$ was added as $NaNO_2^-$	23
4.	Amount of NO $_2^-$ -N recovered at various intervals from the solution system of pH 4 to which 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ -N was added as $\rm NaNO_2$	25
5•	Logarithm of concentration of $\rm NO_2^-$ -N recovered versus time in the solution system of pH 4 to which 150 ppm $\rm NO_2^-$ -N was added as $\rm NaNO_2$	26
6.	Amount of NO $_2$ -N recovered at various intervals from the solution system of pH 5 to which 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ -N was added as $\rm NaNO_2$	28
7。	Logarithm of concentration of $\rm NO_2^-$ -N recovered versus time in the solution system of pH 5 to which 150 ppm $\rm NO_2^-$ -N was added as $\rm NaNO_2$	29
8.	Logarithm of NO $_2^-$ -N found in the solution system of pH 3 treated with 10 g Miami silt loam and receiving 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ -N added as NaNO2	33
9.	Logarithm of concentration of $\rm NO_2^N$ recovered from the solution system of pH 3 treated with 10 g of Dayton silty clay loam and receiving 150 ppm $\rm NO_2^N$ added as $\rm NaNO_2^-$ .	34
10.	Logarithm of concentration of $\rm NO_2^N$ recovered from the solution system of pH 4 treated with Miami silt loam and receiving 150 ppm $\rm NO_2^N$ added as $\rm NaNO_2^-$	37
11.	Logarithm of concentration of $\rm NO_2^N$ recovered from the solution system of pH 4 treated with 10 g Dayton silty clay loam and receiving 150 ppm $\rm NO_2^N$ added as $\rm NaNO_2^-$ .	38

viii

Figure

12.	Logarithm of concentration of $\rm NO_2^N$ found in the solution system of pH 5 treated with 10 g Miami silt loam and receiving 150 ppm $\rm NO_2^N$ added as $\rm NaNO_2$	a	41
13.	Logarithm of concentration of $\rm NO_2^N$ found in the solution system of pH 5 treated with 10 g Dayton silty clay loam and receiving 150 ppm $\rm NO_2^N$ added as $\rm NaNO_2$ .	0	42
14.	Amounts of NO $_2^-$ -N remaining, NO $_3^-$ -N formed in the reaction media, and oxides (NO + NO <sub>2</sub> ) trapped at the end of 6 hours reaction period when 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ -N was added to solution system and the solution system treated with 10 g of three different soils whose pH was adjusted to 3	e	45
15.	Amounts of NO $\overline{2}$ -N remaining, NO $\overline{3}$ -N formed in the reaction media, and oxides (NO + NO_2) trapped at the end of 6 hours reaction period when 150 ppm NO $\overline{2}$ -N was added to solution system and the solution system treated with 10 g of three different soils whose pH was adjusted to 5	8	46
16.	Amount of nitrogen not recovered (deficit) as $NO_2^N$ , $NO_3^N$ , or oxides at the end of 6 hours reaction period from solution system treated with 10 g of three different soils receiving 150 ppm $NO_2^N$	o	47
17.	Contribution of sand, silt, and clay as percent of the total deficit observed after a 6-hour reaction period when solution system of pH 3 was treated with 10 g of three different soils and receiving 150 ppm $\rm NO_2^-N$ .		49
18.	Contribution of sand, silt, and clay as percent of the total deficit observed after a 6-hour reaction period when solution system of pH 5 was treated with 10 g of three different soils and receiving 150 ppm $\mathrm{NO}_2^-$ -N		50
19.	Amount of nitrogen not recovered (deficit) as NO $_2^-$ -N, NO $_3^-$ -N, or as oxides at the end of a 6-hour reaction period from solution system treated with 10 g of three different incubated soils receiving 150 ppm NO $_2^-$ -N	3	52

ix

Page

#### ABSTRACT

Catalytic Effect of Soil Components on the Nitrite Transformation in Buffer Acid Solutions

by

Laxman G. Kuratti, Doctor of Philosophy Utah State University, 1969

Major Professor: Dr. R. L. Smith Department: Soils and Meteorology

Nitrite decomposition in buffer solutions of pH 3, 4, and 5 was observed to be a first order reaction with rate constants (k)  $6.39 \times 10^{-3}$ ,  $1.15 \times 10^{-3}$ , and  $0.17 \times 10^{-3}$ , respectively. When 10 grams of two different soils were introduced, the reaction was catalyzed in all three pH conditions studied. This effect, however, was more pronounced in pH 5.

When 10 grams of soil were introduced, all the added nitrite was not recovered. The deficit ranged from 17 to 30 parts per million when 150 parts per million nitrite nitrogen was added and allowed to react for 6 hours. The deficits seemed to increase when the incubated soil samples were used. The major portion of the deficit was suspected to be due to the formation of  $N_2$  gas.

The effect of three amino acids was studied on the nitrite decomposition. Tryptophan and tyrosine increased the deficit whereas cystine did not have any effect.

(90 pages)

#### INTRODUCTION

An appreciable magnitude of nitrogen loss that cannot be attributed to leaching or crop removal occurs in soil. Several mechanisms have been proposed to account for these losses.

The process of denitrification was perhaps the best known of these mechanisms. Surprisingly enough, great deficits were noted in well aerated soils. In such soils the nitrite ion, an intermediate product of nitrification and denitrification, is now suspected to be the seat of a number of reactions. In view of the high reactivity of nitrite ion in acid conditions, many pathways have been proposed to suggest the possible losses of nitrogen. The reactivity of nitrite ion in the pH ranges found in the soil is now established beyond doubt. It can undergo rapid decomposition to various end products.

The end products of nitrous acid decomposition have been shown to be nitrate nitrogen, oxides of nitrogen, and elemental nitrogen. Several workers, including Reuss and Smith (1965), Mahendrappa, Smith, and Kuratti (1969), and Rashid (1966), determined quantitatively the amount of elemental nitrogen evolved and the nitrates formed during the nitrite decomposition in acid soils. In their studies the apparatus was designed to retain all the gases produced. The system used to trap the nitrogen oxides consisted of alkaline potassium permanganate solution in a vial within the reaction flask and gave, at best, only a qualitative test for the oxides of nitrogen since these were free to react continually with the soil constituents and possibly be converted to other forms of nitrogen. Kuratti and Smith (1969) developed a system where a quantitative determination of nitrogen oxides was possible. From their observations it was shown that these oxides of nitrogen (NO + NO<sub>2</sub>) are produced in significant amounts and the constituents of soil affect the quantity and rate of production.

Rashid (1966) showed that decomposing organic matter had a significant influence on the amount of elemental nitrogen produced. In his study it was pointed out that the  $N_2$  loss was catalyzed by the addition of organic matter.

Kuratti (1966) showed that the nitrite decomposition in soil and a sand plus bentonite system was much faster than in a solution system with comparable pH values.

In view of the above observations it was suspected that the various components of the soil must be responsible for the catalytic effect of nitrite transformation in soil. The work reported here was undertaken with the following objectives:

1. To study the kinetics of nitrite decomposition in buffered solutions of pH 3, 4, and 5 to which 10 g of three different soils were added.

 To study the effects of various catalytic agents on the nitrite decomposition, nitrate formation, and nitrogen oxides produced during 6 hours reaction period in buffered solution of pH 3 and 5.

#### REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Even today, after several decades of intensive study, we do not completely understand the nitrogen transformations in soil. Our ignorance is greatest with regard to changes under acid conditions. The nitrite ion has long been known as an intermediate product in the processes of biological oxidation of ammonia (nitrification) and reduction of nitrate (denitrification). It is now suspected, and some of the experimental evidence substantiates this, that the nitrite ion is the operating point of a number of reactions and subsequent nitrogen transformations.

#### Factors Influencing Nitrite Accumulation

Nitrite has been found to accumulate in soils for varying lengths of time as a transitory intermediate in the biological processes of nitrification and denitrification. Considerable amounts of nitrite have been reported under field and laboratory conditions (Kelley, 1916; Martin et al., 1942; Chapman and Liebig, 1952; Broadbent et al., 1957; Stojanovic and Alexander, 1958; Justice and Smith, 1962). In view of the importance of nitrite in connection with possible nitrogen losses, it is considered necessary to determine under what conditions nitrite accumulation takes place in soils.

#### Soil pH

Soil reaction seems to influence nitrite accumulation directly and indirectly.

<u>Direct effect</u>. Nitrification is a two-phase process carried out by different organisms. The nitrite bacteria, <u>Nitrosomanas</u>, convert the ammonium ion to nitrite in the first stage

 $NH_4^+ + \frac{3}{2} O_2 \longrightarrow NO_2^- + 2H^+ + H_2O$  . . . . . . [1]

and the nitrate bacteria, Nitrobacter, convert nitrite to nitrate

Kelley (1916) and Martin et al. (1942) were of the opinion that alkaline conditions are not conducive to the activity of <u>Nitrobacter</u>, whereas they do not affect Nitrosomanas.

<u>Indirect effect</u>. Growth and metabolism of <u>Nitrobacter</u> were reported to be affected by high concentration of ammonium ion (Lees and Quastel, 1946). It was further pointed out that the degree of inhibition increases with higher pH. This results in blocking of the oxidation of nitrite to nitrate. Broadbent et al. (1957) and Stojanovic and Alexander (1958), while supporting this view, suggested that at high pH the amount of ammonia present is also high and that it acts as a selective inhibitor of <u>Nitrobacter</u>. Aleem and Alexander (1960) showed this selective inhibition on <u>Nitrobacter agilis</u>. Under comparable condition there was only a slight effect on Nitrosomanas.

Accumulation of nitrite is reported by many workers. The two above mentioned reasons could be equally important in inhibiting the oxidation of nitrite to nitrate or one may be more important than the other. But the net result is nitrite accumulation.

Kelley (1916) observed large amounts of nitrite when a small amount of sodium carbonate was added to the soil fertilized with dried blood and ammonium sulfate. He noted larger amounts of nitrite and

suppression of nitrification when alkali salts were added. Robinson (1923) observed longer retention of nitrite when calcium carbonate was incorporated into an acid soil receiving sodium nitrite. Midgeley (1923), while studying the rate of nitrification in heavy and light limed soils, found 16 times more nitrite in soils receiving heavy lime applications. Fraps and Sterges (1939) and Albrecht and McCalla (1937) also came up with conclusions similar to those of Midgeley (1932).

Martin et al. (1942) studied the nitrification of ammonium sulfate and urea in some of the Arizona desert soils. They observed an accumulation of nitrite in well aerated alkaline soils and concluded that the alkaline pH hindered the nitrite oxidation phase of nitrification until other natural (biological) processes reduce the pH value to a point where nitrite oxidation could take place. In case the pH was not lowered, the formation of nitrates was greatly retarded. There are evidences, however, to show that nitrification occurs at much higher pH values though at slower rates, and the threshold pH of  $7.7 \pm 0.2$ suggested by them is not of much importance.

With the application of urea, anhydrous ammonia, ammonium or ammonia-forming fertilizers to neutral or alkaline soils, Chapman and Liebig (1952) found substantial amounts of nitrite under both field and laboratory conditions. From this observation, they concluded that in neutral and alkaline soils of the arid and semiarid regions heavy applications of ammonia and ammonia-forming fertilizers are likely to lead to nitrite accumulation. Nitrite may persist or disappear, depending on the resistance of the soil to pH changes.

Wahhab and Uddin (1954) reported accumulation and persistence of

large quantities of nitrite in soils of Punjab with pH 8.0 to 8.3 that had been fertilized with ammonium sulfate. Similar observations were made by Duisberg and Buehrer (1954), Martin and Cox (1956), Broadbent et al. (1958), and Stojanovic and Alexander (1958).

#### Nitrogen fertilizer

It is pointed out in the foregoing discussion that ammonia is probably toxic to <u>Nitrobacter</u> at the higher pH levels, and, as such, applications of ammonia or ammonia-yielding fertilizers give rise to large amounts of nitrite. Stojanovic and Alexander (1958) reported on the role of ammonia in nitrite accumulation.

#### Organic matter

Smith and Burns (1965) reported higher nitrite accumulation in regions of active organic matter decomposition.

#### Soil temperature

The <u>Nitrobacter</u> organisms are sensitive to soil temperature; their functioning seems to be inhibited at both the extremes. The <u>Nitro-</u> <u>somanas</u>, on the other hand, are less susceptible to temperature fluctuations. Chapman and Liebig (1952) stated that nitrites would likely persist for several months if the temperature is not conducive to the activity of the <u>Nitrobacter</u>. Tyler and Broadbent (1960) and Justice and Smith (1962) are in agreement with the above observation.

#### Photochemical processes

Rao and Dhar (1931) suggested that ammonia or ammonium salts are oxidized to nitrite in the presence of light and photosensitizers. They are of the opinion that oxygen  $(0_2)$  is converted into ozone  $(0_3)$ , and that ozone reacts with ammonia as shown below:

#### Production of the Oxides of Nitrogen

Nitrite ion is seen to be stable and found to accumulate in alkaline media. In acid media, however, nitrite readily decomposes, due to its instability, giving rise to various oxides of nitrogen.

#### Dismutation of nitrous acid

Temple (1914) was the first one to identify nitrogen dioxide (NO<sub>2</sub>) by smell and the formation of nitrate in the solution when he added sodium nitrite (NaNO<sub>2</sub>) to either an acid soil or an acidic solution. He proposed the following scheme as the possible pathway of nitrite decomposition.

	$4HNO_2 \rightarrow 2 NO + 2NO_2 +$	2H2	0			•	•		$^{*}$	•	$\mathbf{x}_{i}$	•	[4]
	$2NO_2 \rightarrow N_2O_4$												[5]
	$N_2O_4 + H_2O \longrightarrow HNO_3 + HNO_2$		•	•				,					[6]
The	sum of reactions [4] through	[6]	is	e	gua	tio	n [	71.					

Robinson (1923), while investigating the usefulness of sodium nitrite as a source of nitrogen fertilizer, found that nitrite was lost in the form of various oxides of nitrogen. Such loss was considered to be greater in acid soils than in neutral or alkaline soils. Similar results were obtained by Olendskii (1931) when sodium nitrite was added to acidified soils.

Corbet (1934) was able to establish beyond doubt that nitrous acid decomposition is nonenzymatic by sterilizing the solutions he used in his studies. He indicated that the probable scheme would be the one

shown in equation [7].

Wagner and Smith (1958) studied the various forms in which added nitrogen could be lost from acid soils. The oxides of nitrogen were found to be produced during the decomposition of nitrite.

Tyler and Broadbent (1960), using sterile and non sterile soils, found not more than trace amounts of the oxides of nitrogen when nitrite was added to acid soils. Thorne (1961) studied the decomposition of nitrous acid in acid solution media. Equation [7] was believed to explain most of his results.

Reuss and Smith (1965), while studying the reaction of nitrite in acid media, concluded that nitric oxide and nitrogen dioxide were the products of decomposition. They further concluded that the evolution of these oxides in the absence of adequate moisture may lead to considerable losses of added nitrogen.

Fraps and Sterges (1939) added 100 ppm of nitrite nitrogen to acidic soils that ranged in pH from 4.4 to 6.9. They observed a loss of 10 to 95 ppm. They were of the opinion that the loss had occurred through formation of nitrogen oxides according to equation [7].

#### Role of transition metals

Yost and Russel (1944) suggested that copper (Cu<sup>+</sup>) catalyzed nitrite decomposition to nitric oxide according to the following equation.

Wullstein and Gilmour (1964) found iron (Fe<sup>++</sup>) and manganese ( $Mn^{++}$ ) to catalyze the decomposition of nitrite as shown in equation [8]. Chao and Bartholomew (1964) found aluminum (Al) and iron (Fe) to catalyze

#### Transformation of the Oxides of Nitrogen

#### To nitrates

The reactions of nitrite decomposition, as given by Sneed and Brasted (1956), indicate the importance of the oxides of nitrogen in the non-enzymatic nitrification:

		2 HNC	2	• NO +	NO2	+	H20		•	•	•	•	•	·	·	•	[9]
	NO +	1/2 0	$D_2 \rightarrow$	NO2													[10]
		2 NC	$p_2 \rightarrow$	N204			•										[11]
	N20	4 + H2	0	HNO <sub>3</sub>	+ H1	NO	2					·	•				[12]
The s	sum of th	ese re	acti	ons i	s pr	es	ented	l i	n e	qua	tic	n [	13]				

 $HNO_2 + 1/2 O_2 \longrightarrow HNO_3 \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad [13]$ 

In view of the importance attached to biological nitrification, Hall et al. (1907) and Stephenson (1920) were not able to recognize the chemical nitrification in acid soils where the conditions were not favorable for bacterial growth. They emphasized that nitrate that was found in small pockets in acid soils was the result of a situation where the soil reaction was basic enough to permit biological nitrification.

In the early 1930's, Barrit (1933) and Corbet (1934) independently obtained evidence for chemical nitrification. In bacterial cultures when the pH dropped to 5.5, the bacterial action stopped. However, they noticed the disappearance of nitrite and the formation of nitric acid which further reduced the pH of the medium to 4.5. They were of the opinion that the acidity of the medium was limiting for the bacterial action and so the only possibility of nitrate formation was through chemical reaction. They confirmed this by adding sodium nitrite to acidified solutions. Barrit and Corbet assumed the reaction probably proceeded as described in equation [13].

Allison and Doetsch (1951) suggested that nitric oxide produced during nitrite decomposition in moist and acid soils is readily oxidized to nitric acid. Recently Reuss and Smith (1965) observed non-enzymatic nitrification both in acid soil and in a resin system.

From the above review of literature, it is clear that nonenzymatic nitrification takes place in acid soils. However, there has been no attempt made to indicate that this reaction replaces biological nitrification which takes place simultaneously under favorable conditions.

#### To elemental nitrogen

Thorne (1961) proposed the formation of elemental nitrogen and nitrate produced according to the reaction:

 $5HNO_2 \rightarrow N_2 + 3H^+ + 3NO_3^- + H_2O$ . . . [14] He was of the opinion that hyponitric acid  $(H_2N_2O_3)$  was an intermediate compound. The reaction between hyponitrous acid and hyponitric acid is also supposed to give rise to elemental nitrogen  $(N_2)$ , as proposed by Thorne (1961).

$$H_2N_2O_3 + H_2N_2O_2 \rightarrow N_2 + HNO_3 + HNO_2 + H_2O$$
 . . . [15]

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

The procedure for this study consisted of adding sodium nitrite (NaNO<sub>2</sub>) to the reaction medium and then removing all the oxides of nitrogen produced, by passing air through the system. The oxides of nitrogen were trapped in alkaline potassium permanganate solution and the nitrite nitrogen left over in the media and the nitrate nitrogen formed were determined. It was intended to remove all the nitrogen oxides produced before they could be oxidized to nitrate according to the equation [10]. Preliminary experiments showed that nitrate was formed in the solution system to which nitrite was added when an air flow less than 100 ml per minute was used to sweep out the oxides.

#### Preparation of the Media

#### Preparation of buffer solution used

Buffer solutions of pH 3, 4, and 5 were prepared by the method of Vogel (1958) by mixing different proportions of  $0.2\underline{M}$  sodium phosphate (Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>) and  $0.1\underline{M}$  citric acid [HOOCCH<sub>2</sub> C(OH)COOH)CH<sub>2</sub>COOH] as indicated in Table 1.

#### Soils used

Three acid soils, namely Miami silt loam, Olympic silty clay loam, and Dayton silty clay loam, were used in this study. Some of the properties of the soils used are given in Table 2.

0.2 <u>M</u> Na <sub>2</sub> HPO4	0.1 <u>М</u> (CH <sub>2</sub> COOH) <sub>2</sub> C(OH) СООН	рН <sup>а</sup>	
ml	ml		
20.55	79.45	3	
38,55	61.45	4	
51.50	48.50	5	

Table 1. Quantities of sodium phosphate and a citric acid used to make 100 ml of pH 3, 4, and 5 buffer solution (Vogel, 1958)

<sup>a</sup>A sample of the stock solution was tested before using after adjusting the pH meter against standard Beckman pH solution.

Table	2.	Some	of	the	physical	and	chemical	characteristics	of	the	soils
		used	in	this	investi:	gatio	on				
-										-	

			Matalab			0	Moisture content	
Soils <sup>a</sup>	pH	CEC	Fe	Cu	Mn	matter	bar	dry
	paste	meq/100g		ppm			percent	
Olympic silty clay loam	4.6	31.4	525	50	180	6.98	34.0	3.12
Dayton silty clay loam	4.9	11.5	1459	25	153	3.76	30.2	2.0
Miami silt loam	5.2	11.2	525.	50	153	2.0	24.2	1.24

<sup>a</sup>The Olympic silty clay loam and Dayton silty clay loam came from Oregon. The two soils were supplied by Dr. T. Jackson, Department of Soils, Oregon State University. The Miami silt loam came from Ohio and was supplied by Dr. R. B. Clark, Ohio State Experiment Station, Wooster.

<sup>b</sup>The metals were extracted by 1% EDTA and determined on Perkin Elmer Atomic Absorption Spectrophotometer Model 303.

#### Preparation of soil

Soils were dug out from surface to a depth of 6 inches, air dried, ground, passed through a 200 mesh sieve, and stored in air tight bins.

In order to study the effect of activated organic matter complex of these soils, 10 g soil samples were brought to 1/3 bar tension and incubated at 30 C in a humid atmosphere chamber. The flasks were covered with polyethylene film, which permits free exchange of gases like carbon dioxide and oxygen and restricts the movement of water vapor.

#### Fractionation of soil components

Ten g oven dry soil samples were put in 50 ml centrifuge tubes. To this was added 20 ml of "Purex" (NaOCl) of pH 9.5. The tubes were placed in a boiling water bath for 15 minutes and then centrifuged for 5 to 10 minutes at 800 to 1000 rpm. The supernatant solution was decanted off and the procedure repeated for a total of five times.

About 30 ml of 2% sodium carbonate and sodium bicarbonate solution was added, stirred, and heated in boiling water bath for 10 minutes. This was again centrifuged for 5 to 10 minutes at 800 to 1000 rpm and the solution decanted. This treatment was repeated two more times. At the end of the last treatment, the final solution was centrifuged at 2500 rpm for 10 minutes.

The liquid was drained as thoroughly as possible from the tube. Ten ml of the dispersing agent (35.7 g sodium hexametaphosphate and 7.94 g sodium carbonate in a liter) and 10 ml water were added, stirred to break up the aggregates, and the soil plus solution transferred to a nursing bottle. The contents in the nursing bottles were shaken overnight.

The dispersed sample was washed through a 300 mesh sieve into a 1-liter cylinder. All particles less than 20 mµ were in the cylinder by now. The sieve containing sand was placed in an aluminum dish. The sample was dried at 110 C, and the sand fraction was determined by weighing. The suspension was stirred for 6 minutes with an electric stirrer and then with hand stirrer for 30 to 60 seconds with an up and down movement. The suspension in the cylinder was made to 1 liter and covered with a watch glass. Thermal jackets were placed around the cylinders.

A sample was siphoned out from the 9 cm depth at the time determined and placed into a bottle. This suspension was centrifuged at 2500 rpm for 15 to 20 minutes and the supernatant liquid decanted. The suspension was dried at 110 C and collected as the clay fraction. The suspension below the 9-cm depth was similarly dried and collected as the silt fraction.

#### Apparatus Used

Air from the line was controlled by a one-stage pressure regulator and measured in a rotometer. A safety valve system was introduced in order to permit the excess air to escape. The safety valve consisted of the vertical arm of the "T" tapering down dipped into water contained in 1000 ml cylinder (Figure 1). The air, regulated at 100 ml per minute, was saturated with moisture by bubbling it through water contained in an Erlenmeyer flask. The moisture-saturated air was then directed to the reaction flask.

The reaction vessel consists of a 300 ml Erlenmeyer flask. Fortyfive ml of the buffer solution was put in this flask. A plastic vial



Figure 1. Apparatus and set-up for experiments where  $NO_2^-N$  was allowed to decompose and the oxides were trapped.

Ľ

containing 5 ml sodium nitrite solution to provide 150 ppm nitritenitrogen was also placed in it. A stirring bar was put in the flask to stir the reaction medium by placing the flask on a magnetic stirrer. Care was taken to prevent the build-up of heat from the magnetic stirrer by placing an asbestos sheet and a block of wood between the vessel and the stirrer.

Three, four, or five alkaline permanganate tubes were connected in succession and joined to the reaction vessel. The air removing the oxides was forced through the alkaline permanganate tubes.

After ascertaining that all the connections were air tight, the vial containing the sodium nitrite solution was tipped over and the reaction begun.

#### Analysis of the Different Forms of Nitrogen

#### Nitrate and nitrite

<u>Pure buffer solution</u>. A sample (2 to 5 ml) was pipetted into a 250 or 500 ml volumetric flask about one-half full of filtered saturated calcium hydroxide solution. The volume was made up to the mark. The pH was recorded on the remaining reaction medium in the reaction flask.

An aliquot (5 to 10 ml) of the above solution was taken to determine the nitrite nitrogen by the method described by Shinn (1941), employing a diazo coupling of sulfanilic acid and N-(1-naphthy1)ethylene diamine dihydrochloride as a coupling reagent. A standard phenol disulfonic acid method, similar to that of Jackson (1958), was used to determine nitrate after destroying nitrite with sulfamic acid. The complete analytical procedures are included in the appendix.

Soil or soil components in buffer solution. The pH was determined immediately after removing the reaction flask from the air streams. About 50 to 60 ml of saturated calcium hydroxide solution and two scoops of characoal were added to the reaction flask. The flask was stoppered and shaken for 15 minutes and the suspension allowed to settle for 10 minutes. The solution was filtered by using suction and the volume was made up to 500 ml to ensure complete extraction of nitrite. From here on the procedure was the same as used with the solution system.

#### Oxides of nitrogen

The alkaline permanganate solution (20 ml) held in each of the tubes was used to trap the nitric oxide and nitrogen dioxide gases swept out of the system during the course of reaction. The permanganate solutions were analyzed at the end of each reaction period. The solution was washed into beakers and the excess potassium permanganate solution destroyed by adding about 20 ml oxalic acid (0.6  $\underline{M}$  Na<sub>2</sub>C<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> in 7  $\underline{N}$   $\mathrm{H_2SO}_{h})$  . The solution was made alkaline by adding 5  $\underline{N}$  sodium hydroxide and then digested on a hot plate for 30 minutes. After filtering, the manganous hydroxide precipitate on the filter paper was washed several times with hot distilled water and the volume made up to 250 ml. Aliquots from this filtrate were analyzed for nitrate by the phenol disulfonic acid method. The method was calibrated by adding known amounts of potassium nitrate to the alkaline permanganate trapping solution. Calibration curves, using either sodium nitrite or potassium nitrate, were identical. The complete procedure is included in the appendix.

#### Experiments

#### Kinetic studies

Nitrite decomposition kinetics were worked out under a variety of conditions, namely

1. A pure buffer solution system, and

2. A buffer solution system plus 10 g of two different soils.

Nitrite nitrogen (150 ppm) was added as sodium nitrite, and the nitrite nitrogen that disappeared was followed for a total of 9 hours with many samplings in the initial stages. Nitrate nitrogen and the nitrogen oxides were not determined in this study since the objective was to determine the kinetics of nitrite decomposition.

# Catalytic effect on nitrite decomposition and creation of deficit

Using the results obtained in buffer solutions as a reference, the various soil factors expected to catalyze the reaction/s responsible for nitrite decomposition were tested. Depending on the speed of nitrite decomposition, the experiments were conducted for a period of 3 or 6 hours reaction time. In these experiments, the nitrogen oxides collected and the nitrate formed were determined.

Effect of soils. Three different soils were used in this set of experiments. Ten g soil was mixed with the 45 ml buffer solution and then the 150 ppm nitrite nitrogen was added.

Effect of soil fraction. The sand, silt, or clay fractions that were obtained from the 10 g soil samples were added to the 45 ml buffer solution to study the effect of various soil components in the catalysis of nitrite decomposition and also the deficits noticed when the soils were used. Effect of activated organic complex. Ten g soil samples were incubated at 30 C to activate the organic matter. These samples were added to the buffer solution and the disappearance of nitrite nitrogen followed.

Effect of amino acids. Various amino acids were tested to see if they have any catalytic effect.

#### EXPERIMENTAL RESULTS

#### Kinetic Studies

#### Solution systems

The kinetics of nitrite decomposition in acid buffer solutions of pH 3, 4, and 5 were carried out. The amount of nitrite remaining after various time intervals was determined after a standard amount of nitrite (150 ppm) had been added. The time intervals chosen were 0, 15, 30, 45, 60, 90, 120, 150, 180, 210, 300, 420, and 540 minutes.

Solution system at pH 3. The nitrite nitrogen recovered from the solution system of pH 3, after various time intervals, is given in Table 3. These data are plotted in Figure 2. A plot was made of the logarithms of the concentration versus time (Figure 3), and from this the rate constant, k, was found to be  $6.39 \times 10^{-3}$  per minute.

Solution system at pH 4. The nitrite nitrogen recovered at various time intervals from the solution system of pH 4 is given in Table 4. These data are plotted in Figure 4 and the logarithms of concentration versus time are plotted in Figure 5. From this figure the rate constant, k, was found to be  $1.15 \times 10^{-3}$ .

Solution system at pH 5. The nitrite nitrogen recovered at various time intervals is given in Table 5. These data are plotted in Figure 6 and the logarithms of concentration versus time are plotted in figure 7. From this figure the rate constant, k, was calculated to be  $0.172 \times 10^{-3}$ .

		Log of			
Reaction time	Run 1	Run 2	Average	average	
minutes	ppm	ppm	ppm		
0	150.0	150.0	150.0	2.1761	
15	124.8	125.2	125.0	2.0969	
30	115.7	114.9	115.3	2.0618	
45	94.9	95.1	95.0	1.9777	
60	80.6	81.2	80.9	1.9079	
90	68.9	69.5	69.2	1.8401	
120	46.8	45.3	46.05	1.6633	
150	46.8	46.7	46.75	1.6696	
180	39.0	37.0	38.0	1.5798	
210	29.6	30.1	29.8	1.4742	
300	19.5	18.2	18.8	1.2742 .	
420	13.0	12.6	12.8	1.1072	
540	6.5	6.6	6.55	0.8162	

Table 3. Amounts of  $NO_2^-$  N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 3 when 150 ppm  $NO_2^-$  N was added as NaNO<sub>2</sub>







Figure 3. Logarithm of concentration of  $NO_2^- -N$  recovered versus time in the solution system of pH 3 to which 150 ppm  $NO_2^- -N$  was added as  $NaNO_2$ .

		Log of		
Reaction time	Run 1	Run 2	Average	average
minutes	ppm	ppm	ppm	
0	150.0	150.0	150.0	2.1761
15	143.0	142.1	142.55	2.1538
34	140.0	141.0	140.5	2.1476
48	139.1	137.0	138.05	2.1399
60	137.8	138.0	137.9	2.1396
100	130.0	129.5	129.75	2.1132
120	126.1	125.2	125.65	2.0990
160	122.1	122.5	122.3	2.0871
180	111.8	110.5	111.2	2.0461
210	109.2	107.5	108.3	2.0346
300	98.8	99.5	99.2	1.9965
420	93.0	94.0	93.5	1.9708
540	92.5	94.5	93.0	1.9685

Table 4. Amounts of NO\_2 -N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 4 when 150 ppm  $\rm NO_2$  -N was added as  $\rm NaNO_2$


Figure 4. Amount of  $NO_2^-$  -N recovered at various intervals from the solution system of pH 4 to which 150 ppm  $NO_2^-$  -N was added as NaNO<sub>2</sub>.



Figure 5. Logarithm of concentration of  $NO_2^- -N$  recovered versus time in the solution system of pH 4 to which 150 ppm  $NO_2^- -N$  was added as  $NaNO_2^-$ .

		$NO_2 - N$ for	und	Log of	
Reaction time	Run 1	Run 2	Average	average	
minutes	ppm	ppm	ppm		
0	150.0	150.0	150.0	2.1761	
15	147.5	149.5	148.5	2.1718	
35	149.5	146.5	148.0	2.1703	
48	149.5	147.5	148.5	2.1718	
60	146.3	145.3	145.8	2.1638	
90	146.9	146.3	146.6	2.1662	
120	147.5	146.8	147.1	2.1676	
150	144.3	145.2	144.7	2,1605	
180	143.0	142.8	142.9	2.1550	
210	143.0	141.4	142.7	2.1544	
300	143.0	142.5	142.25	2.1530	
420	140.0	141.0	140.5	2.1476	
510	140.0	139.0	139.5	2.1440	

Table 5. Amounts of  $\rm NO_2^--N$  found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 5 when 150 ppm  $\rm NO_2^--N$  was added as  $\rm NaNO_2$ 





# Solution system treated with soils

Two soils, namely the Dayton silty clay loam and the Miami silt loam, were introduced as contaminants in the solution systems at pH 3, 4, and 5, and the kinetics of nitrite decomposition of the 150 ppm added  $NO_2^-$  -N were studied.

Solution system of pH 3 treated with 10 g soil. The quantities of nitrite nitrogen recovered after various time intervals from the solution system of pH 3 treated with 10 g of the two soils mentioned above and receiving 150 ppm  $NO_2^-$  -N are given in Tables 6 and 7. The logarithms of concentration of  $NO_2^-$  -N versus time are presented in Figures 8 and 9. Rate constants were calculated to be 8.13 and 7.89 x  $10^{-3}$  per minute when the solution of pH 3 was treated with Miami silt loam and Dayton silty clay loam, respectively.

Solution system of pH 4 treated with 10 g soil. The quantities of nitrite nitrogen recovered after various reaction periods from the solution systems of pH 4 treated with the same two soils mentioned earlier and receiving 150 ppm  $NO_2^-$  -N are given in Tables 8 and 9. The logarithms of concentration of  $NO_2^-$  -N versus time are presented in Figures 10 and 11. Rate constants were calculated to be 3.84 and 3.22 x  $10^{-3}$  per minute when the solution was treated with Miami silt loam and Dayton silty clay loam, respectively.

Solution system of pH 5 treated with 10 g soil. The quantities of nitrite nitrogen recovered after the various reaction periods from the solution systems of pH 5 treated with 10 g of the two soils mentioned earlier are given in Tables 10 and 11. The logarithms of concentration of  $NO_2^-$  -N versus time for these two soils are presented in Figures 12 and 13. The rate constants are 0.639 and 0.643 x  $10^{-3}$  per minute, respectively.

		$NO_2 - N$ for	und	Log of
Reaction time	Run 1	Run 2	Average	average
minutes	ppm	ppm	ppm	
0	150.0	150.0	150.0	2.1761
20	79.0	77.0	78.0	1.8921
30	65.0	63.4	64.2	1.8075
45	60.5	57.3	58.9	1.7701
60	54.2	53.2	53.7	1.7300
90	42.0	44.6	43.3	1.6365
120	27.5	31.5	29.5	1.4698
150	26.3	25.3	25.8	1.4116
180	19.2	17.2	18.2	1.2601
210	19.0	16.0	17.5	1.2430
300	8.5	7.3	7.9	0.8976
420	2.5	2.7	2.6	0.4150
540	2.5	1.5	2.0	0.3010

Table 6. Amount of  $\rm NO_2^-$  -N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 3 treated with 10 g Miami silt loam and receiving 150 ppm  $\rm NO_2^-$ -N

		$NO_2 - N$ found			
Reaction time	Run 1	Run 2	Average	average	
minutes	ppm	p pm	ppm		
0	150.0	150.0	150.0	2.1761	
15	75.6	76.2	75.9	1.8802	
30	73.0	72.0	72.5	1.8603	
45	57.0	58.2	57.6	1.7604	
60	59.0	61.0	60.0	1.7782	
90	44.2	42.6	43.4	1.6375	
120	39.0	37.0	38.0	1.5798	
150	25.1	27.5	26.3	1.4200	
180	17.2	16.0	16.6	1.2201	
210	18.0	18.4	18.2	1.2601	
300	9.2	6.8	8.0	0.9031	
420	3.0	3.4	3.2	0.5051	
540	2.8	1.2	2.0	0.3010	

Table 7. Amount of  $NO_2^- -N$  found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 3 treated with 10 g Dayton silty clay loam and receiving 150 ppm  $NO_2^- -N$ 



Figure 8. Logarithm of  $NO_2^-$ -N found in the solution system of pH 3 treated with 10 g Miami silt loam and receiving 150 ppm  $NO_2^-$ -N added as  $NaNO_2^-$ .





		$NO_2 - N$ found			
Reaction time	Run 1	Run 2	Average	average	
minutes	p pm	ppm	ppm		
0	150.0	150.0	150.0	2.1761	
15	103.9	103.0	103.45	2.0146	
30	-	96.5	96.5	1.9845	
45	93.5	94.0	93.25	1.9696	
60	90.8	91.8	91.3	1,9605	
90	89.2	87.0	88.6	1.9474	
120	84.1	85.1	84.6	1.9274	
150	71.5	70.0	70.75	1.8497	
180	70.8	69.2	70.0	1.8451	
210	63.1	65.0	64.05	1,8065	
300	47.9	49.9	48.9	1.6893	
420	26.90	25.0	25.95	1.4143	
540	20.0	21.0	20.5	1.3118	

Table 8. Amount of  $\rm NO_2^-$  -N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 4 treated with 10 g Miami silt loam and receiving 150 ppm  $\rm NO_2^-$ -N

		$NO_2 - N$ for	und	Log of	
Reaction time	Run 1	Run 2	Average	average	
minutes	ppm	ppm	ppm		
0	150.0	150.0	150.0	2,1761	
15	103.2	105.2	104.2	2.0178	
30	96.0	97.0	96.5	1.9845	
45	93.9	92.7	93.2	1.9694	
60	90.0	88.0	89.0	1.9494	
90	85.7	14.5	85.2	1.9304	
120	78.5	80.5	79.5	1.9004	
150	72.0	72.8	72.4	1.8597	
180	68.1	72.1	70.1	1.8457	
210	63.5	62.5	63.0	1.7993	
300	45.9	44.7	45.3	1.6561	
420	27.0	28.6	27.8	1.4440	
540	22.4	22.0	22.2	1.3464	

Table 9. Amount of  $\rm NO_2^-$  -N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 4 treated with 10 g Dayton silty clay loam and receiving 150 ppm  $\rm NO_2^-$ -N







		NO2 -N for	und	Log of
Reaction time	Run 1	Run 2	Average	average
minutes	ppm	ppm	ppm	
0	150.0	150.0	150.0	2.1761
15	127.9	128.5	128.2	2.1079
30	126.9	126.5	126.7	2.1028
45	125.8	121.7	123.7	2.0923
60	125.8	122.7	124.2	2.0941
90	118.6	120.6	119.6	2.0778
120	-	119.6	119.6	2.0778
180	115.9	116.5	116.2	2.0653
240	113.8	113.6	113.7	2.0557
270	110.6	-	110.6	2.0437
360	107.0	106.0	106.5	2.0274
540	94.6	93.0	93.8	1.9722

Table 10. Amount of  $\rm NO_2^-$  -N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 5 treated with 10 g Miami silt loam soil and receiving 150 ppm  $\rm NO_2^--N$ 

		$NO_2 - N$ for	und	Log of	
Reaction time	Run 1	Run 2	Average	average	
minutes	ppm	ppm	ppm		
0			150.0	2.1761	
15	128.9	129.4	129.6	2.1127	
30	126.9	127.9	127.4	2.1052	
45	120.6	119.6	120.1	2.0795	
60	119.6	120.6	120.1	2.0795	
90	118.5		118.5	2.0738	
120	118.5	118.5	118.5	2.0738	
150	117.5	118.1	117.8	2.0712	
180	116.5	116.9	116.7	2.0671	
210	112.3	114.4	113.3	2,0542	
240	110.2	111.3	110.7	2.0440	
360	109.0	109.8	109.4	2.0391	
540	93.6	95.7	94.7	1.9763	

Table 11. Amount of NO\_ -N found at various reaction periods in phosphate buffer solution of pH 5 treated with 10 g Dayton silty clay loam and receiving 150 ppm  $NO_2^- -N$ 







Figure 13. Logarithm of concentration of  $NO_2^-$ -N found in the solution system of pH 5 treated with 10 g Dayton silty clay loam and receiving 150 ppm  $NO_2^-$ -N added as  $NaNO_2^-$ .

#### Catalytic Effect on Nitrite Decomposition

#### and Creation of Deficit

# Effect of soil

Three different soils, namely Dayton silty clay loam, Miami silt loam, and Olympic silty clay loam, were added to the phosphate buffer solutions of pH 3 and 5. The  $NO_2^- -N$  (150 ppm) was added as sodium nitrite. The amount of  $NO_2^- -N$  remaining, the  $NO_3^- -N$  formed, and the oxides (NO +  $NO_2$ ) produced and trapped in the alkaline permanganate solutions are given in Tables 12 and 13. Graphical representation of the data is given in Figures 14 and 15.

When the balance sheets showing the various nitrogen components of the systems were made up, there was no deficit noted in the pure solution systems. There were, however, varying amounts of deficit with the addition of the different soils in the solutions. The deficit seemed to increase with the lowering of the pH except in the case of Miami silt loam. The magnitudes of these deficits are presented in Figure 16.

#### Effect of soil fractions

The purpose of these experiments was to determine the contribution that the various components of soil may have in producing the nitrogen deficits reported in Figure 16.

Ten g of the three soils was fractionated into sand, silt, and clay. These were in turn introduced into the solution systems of pH 3 and 5 that had received 150 ppm  $NO_2^- -N$ . The nitrite nitrogen remaining, nitrate formed, and the oxides of nitrogen trapped at the end of 6 hours reaction period were determined. The deficit was then calculated for

		Forms of N			
Media	NO <sub>2</sub> -N	N0 <sub>3</sub> -N	$NO + NO_2$	Total	Deficit
t e construit e la la construit en construit	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm
Solution system	12.4		138.0	150.4	
Solution system +					
10 g Dayton sicl	4.2	31.0	91.5	126.7	23.3
Solution system +					
10 g Miami sil	7.9	31.0	93.6	132.5	17.5
Solution system +					
10 g Olympic sicl	7.9	36.5	73.8	118.2	31.8
	Media Solution system Solution system + 10 g Dayton sicl Solution system + 10 g Miami sil Solution system + 10 g Olympic sicl	Media $NO_2^N$ ppmSolution system12.4Solution system +10 g Dayton sicl4.2Solution system +10 g Miami sil7.9Solution system +10 g Olympic sicl7.9	Forms of N NO2 -NMedia $NO2 - N$ $NO3 - N$ ppmppmSolution system12.4Solution system +10 g Dayton sicl10 g Miami sil7.9Solution system +10 g Miami sil7.9Solution system +10 g Olympic sicl7.936.5	$\begin{array}{c c} & & & & & & \\ \hline \text{Media} & & & & & & \\ \hline \text{NO}_2^ \text{N} & & & & & & & \\ \hline \text{NO}_3^ \text{N} & & & & & & \\ \hline \text{NO}_2 & - & & & & & \\ \hline \text{Solution system} & & & & & \\ \hline \text{Solution system +} & & & & & \\ \hline \text{10 g Miami sil} & & & & & & \\ \hline \text{Solution system +} & & & & & \\ \hline \text{10 g Miami sil} & & & & & & \\ \hline \text{Solution system +} & & & & & \\ \hline \text{10 g Olympic sicl} & & & & & & \\ \hline \text{7.9} & & & & & & \\ \hline \text{36.5} & & & & & \\ \hline \text{73.8} & & & & \\ \hline \end{array}$	Forms of N           Media $NO_2^- N$ $NO_3^- N$ $NO + NO_2$ Total           ppm         ppm         ppm         ppm         ppm           Solution system         12.4          138.0         150.4           Solution system         12.4          138.0         150.4           Solution system +         10 g Dayton sicl         4.2         31.0         91.5         126.7           Solution system +         10 g Miami sil         7.9         31.0         93.6         132.5           Solution system +         10 g Olympic sicl         7.9         36.5         73.8         118.2

Table 12. Amounts of various forms of nitrogen found after a 6-hour reaction period in different media of pH 3 which received 150 ppm  $\rm NO_2$  -N as  $\rm NaNO_2$ 

Table 13. Amounts of various forms of nitrogen found after a 6-hour reaction period in different media of pH 5 which received 150 ppm  $NO_2$  -N as NaNO<sub>2</sub>

			Forms of N			
	Media	NO2 -N	NO <sub>2</sub> -N NO <sub>3</sub> -N		Total	Deficit
		ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm
1.	Solution system	145.6		4.0	149.6	0.4
2.	Solution system +					
	10 g Dayton sicl	108.3	11.8	11.0	131.1	18.9
3.	Solution system +					
	10 g Miami sil	110.6	11.0	9.5	131.1	18.9
4.	Solution system +					
	10 g Olympic sicl	108.3	11.0	8.0	127.3	22.7



Figure 14.

4. Amounts of NO<sub>2</sub> -N remaining, NO<sub>3</sub> -N formed in the reaction media, and oxides (NO + NO<sub>2</sub>) trapped at the end of 6 hours reaction period when 150 ppm NO<sub>2</sub> -N was added to solution system and the solution system treated with 10 g of three different soils whose pH was adjust to 3.



Figure 15. Amounts of  $NO_2^- -N$  remaining,  $NO_3^- -N$  formed in the reaction media, and oxides  $(NO + NO_2)$ trapped at the end of 6 hours reaction period when 150 ppm  $NO_2^- -N$  was added to solution system and the solution system treated with 10 g of three different soils whose pH was adjusted to 5.



Figure 16. Amount of nitrogen not recovered (deficit) as NO<sub>2</sub> -N, NO<sub>3</sub> -N, or oxides at the end of 6 hours reaction period from solution system treated with 10 g of three different soils receiving 150 ppm NO<sub>2</sub> -N.

each soil fraction and this is reported as percent of the whole soil (Figures 17 and 18).

Effect of activated organic complex. The amounts of  $NO_2^- -N$ remaining, nitrate formed, and the oxides produced during a 6-hour reaction period when 10 g of three different soils were added to the buffered solution systems of pH 3 and 5 receiving 150 ppm  $NO_2^- -N$  are reported in Tables 14 and 15. The deficits are presented in Figure 19.

Effect of amino acids. Three different amino acids, tyrosine, tryptophan, and cystine, were used in this study. One ml solution was added to solution systems of pH 3 and 5 treated with 10 g Miami silt loam to which 150 ppm  $NO_2^-$  -N was added. At the end of a 6-hour reaction period, the  $NO_2^-$  -N remaining,  $NO_3^-$  -N formed, and the oxides produced were determined and are given in Table 16.



Figure 17. Contribution of sand, silt, and clay as percent of the total deficit observed after a 6-hour reaction period when solution system of pH 3 was treated with 10 g of three different soils and receiving 150 ppm  $\mathrm{NO}_2^-$ -N.



Figure 18. Contribution of sand, silt, and clay as percent of the total deficit observed after a 6-hour reaction period when solution system of pH 5 was treated with 10 g of three different soils and receiving 150 ppm  $\mathrm{NO}_2^-$ -N.

Table 14. The amounts of  $NO_2^- - N$  remaining,  $NO_3^- - N$  formed, and the oxides  $(NO + NO_2)$  trapped after a 6-hour reaction period in solution system of pH 3 treated with 10 g of three different incubated soils (at 30 C and 1/3 bar moisture for 15 days) and receiving 150 ppm  $NO_2^- - N$ 

		Forms of 1	ya		Deficit
Systems	$NO_2^N$	N0 <sub>3</sub> -N	$NO + NO_2$	Total	
	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm
Solution + Dayton					
silty clay loam	4.0	28.5	85.6	118.1	31.9
Solution + Miami					
silt loam	6.9	26.4	86.2	119.5	30.5
Solution + Olympic					
silty clay loam	6.4	34.2	75.4	116.0	34.0
	Systems Solution + Dayton silty clay loam Solution + Miami silt loam Solution + Olympic silty clay loam	Systems     NO2 -N       ppm       Solution + Dayton       silty clay loam     4.0       Solution + Miami       silt loam     6.9       Solution + Olympic       silty clay loam     6.4	Forms of 1Systems $NO_2^N$ $NO_3^N$ ppmppmppmSolution + Dayton4.028.5Solution + Miami5silt loam6.926.4Solution + Olympic5silty clay loam6.434.2	$\frac{1}{10000000000000000000000000000000000$	Forms of $N^a$ Systems $NO_2^ N$ $NO_3^ N$ $NO + NO_2$ TotalppmppmppmppmppmSolution + Dayton4.028.585.6118.1Solution + Miamisilt loam6.926.486.2119.5Solution + Olympicsilty clay loam6.434.275.4116.0

<sup>a</sup>Average of 2 replications.

Table 15. The amounts of  $NO_2^- -N$  remaining,  $NO_3^- -N$  formed, and the oxides (N0 + NO<sub>2</sub>) trapped after a 6-hour reaction period in solution system of pH 5 treated with 10 g of three different incubated soils (at 30 C and 1/3 bar moisture for 15 days) and receiving 150 ppm  $NO_2^- -N$ 

			Forms of 1	Na		
	Systems	$NO_2^N$	NO3 -N	$NO + NO_2$	Total	Deficit
		ppm	ppm	ppm	p pm	ppm
1.	Solution + Dayton					
	silty clay loam	101.2	10.4	9.1	120.7	29.3
2.	Solution + Miami					
	silt loam	105.3	10.1	6.9	122.3	27.7
3.	Solution + Olympic					
	silty clay loam	100.7	10.2	6.0	122.9	33.1

<sup>a</sup>Average of 2 replications.





			Forms of 1	N		
	Systems	NO2 -N	NO <sub>3</sub> -N	$NO + NO_2$	Total	Deficit
		ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm
рН	3					
1.	Solution + Miami					
	sil + cystine	8.0	30.8	94.0	132.8	17.2
2.	Solution + Miami					
	sil + tyrosine	7.5	28.1	84.3	119.9	30.1
3.	Solution + Miami					
	sil + tryprophan	7.9	29.5	83.2	120.6	29.4
pН	5					
1.	Solution + Miami					
	sil + cystine	111.1	10.7	9.8	131.6	18.4
2.	Solution + Miami					
	sil + tyrosine	108.1	10.5	7.1	125.7	24.3
3.	Solution + Miami					
	sil + tryprophan	107.5	10.2	8.9	126.6	23.4

Table 16. Amounts of  $NO_2^- - N$  remaining,  $NO_3^- - N$  formed, and oxides (NO + NO<sub>2</sub>) trapped in solution systems of pH 3 and 5 treated with 10 g of Miami silt loam and three different amino acids

#### DISCUSSION

#### Kinetic Studies

# Solution systems

The nitrite decomposition studied at the three pH conditions seems to follow the first order reaction law, as the logarithm of concentration versus time gives a straight line relationship.

Rate constant, k, was calculated by the equation

$$k = \frac{2.303}{t_2 - t_1} \log \frac{C_1}{C_2} \qquad (16)$$

Where:

k = Rate constant per minute.

 $t_1$  and  $t_2$  = Initial time and final time in minutes when  $NO_2 - N$ concentrations were determined.

 $C_1$  and  $C_2$  = Concentrations of  $NO_2^- - N$  at  $t_1$  and  $t_2$ , respectively. The rate constants for solutions at pH 3, 4, and 5 for  $NO_2^- - N$ decomposition are 6.39 x  $10^{-3}$ , 1.15 x  $10^{-3}$ , and 0.172 x  $10^{-3}$ , respectively.

From the rate constants and also from the data given in Tables 3, 4, and 5, it is evident that the nitrite decomposition is pH dependent.

$$H^{+} + NO_{2} \longrightarrow HNO_{2} \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad \dots \qquad [17]$$

This means it is the proportion of nitrous acid present that is important rather than the amount of nitrite added. The equilibrium constant, k, for the above reaction is  $6.0 \times 10^{-4}$  (Sneed and Brasted, 1956). Reuss and Smith (1965) calculated the amount of nitrous acid present at pH 3, 4, and 5 to be 63, 14, and 1.6%, respectively, of the nitrite added.

The products of nitrite decomposition were not determined since the purpose of this set of experiments was to study only the kinetics of  $NO_2^-$ -N decomposition. This could be done by following the  $NO_2^-$ -N disappearance.

# Solution systems treated with soil

The comparative statement of rate constants given in Table 17 indicates that nitrite decomposition is faster in the presence of soil. The catalytic effect seems to be more pronounced at pH 5 where the reaction rate was increased about four times in the presence of soil. At pH 4, however, it was about three times faster. The catalytic effect in pH 3 was not very much at all. From these observations, we can theorize that the nitrite reaction is mainly pH dependent at pH 3, but it could be considerably influenced in solution systems of pH 5 by the presence of soil. The effect of the soil in a system of pH 4 is intermediate. Similar findings were reported by Kuratti and Smith (1966), using different systems.

	Media	рН 3	pH 4	рН 5
1.	Solution system	$6.39 \times 10^{-3}$	$1.15 \times 10^{-3}$	$0.172 \times 10^{-3}$
2.	Solution system + Dayton silty clay loam	$8.13 \times 10^{-3}$	$3.84 \times 10^{-3}$	$0.643 \times 10^{-3}$
3.	Solution system + Miami silt loam	$7.89 \times 10^{-3}$	$3.22 \times 10^{-3}$	$0.639 \times 10^{-3}$

Table 17. The comparison of rate constants of  $\mathrm{NO}_2^- - \mathrm{N}$  decomposition in different media

It is possible that the presence of the soil in the solution may actually increase the proportion of nitrous acid present at any given time by acting as a source of protons  $(\text{H}^+)$  required to generate nitrous acid.

It is surprising that the first order reaction fits so well even though it is conceivable that there is more than one reaction taking place in the system. It is just possible that there is one reaction that is more important than the others.

# Catalytic effect of nitrite decomposition and creation of deficit

<u>Effect of soils</u>. It is clear from Figures 14 and 15 that nitrite decomposition is catalyzed in the presence of soil material at the two pH conditions studied. This was pointed out in the kinetic results discussed earlier.

Another thing that stands out very prominently is the formation of nitrate in systems treated with soil, whereas nitrate did not form in the pure solution system. It was purposely avoided by adjusting the air flow to the 100 ml per minute rate to remove all the oxides produced.

The possible explanation for such behavior in solutions treated with soil could be:

1. As pointed out in the earlier section, soil, by acting as a source of protons, may increase the proportion of nitrous acid in the system. If this is so, the 100 ml per minute air flow, which was set up to remove all the oxides from the solution system, may be inadequate to handle all the oxides produced. The oxides seem to stay in the system and oxidize to nitrate according to equations

 $2NO_2 \rightarrow N_2O_4 \quad . \quad [11]$ 

2. It is possible that the energy of activation for the conversion of  $HNO_{2}$  to nitrate may be much less in the presence of soil.

3. There may be a totally different pathway available for the formation of nitrate in soil and in the solution system.

The nitrates produced were in higher amounts at pH 3 as compared to those at pH 5.

The oxides of nitrogen were less when the systems were treated with soil at pH 3. But in systems of pH 5, the opposite was found. The increase in the oxides of nitrogen obtained is so small that it may not be significant.

When all the forms of nitrogen recovered were added up, a deficit was noted in the systems treated with soil. This deficit seemed to be greatest at the lower pH values with the exception of the Miami silt loam.

Effect of soil fractions. The fractions from the three different soils behaved somewhat similar in general to the whole soil in their ability to catalyze nitrite decomposition and the production of nitrate and of nitrogen oxides. The deficit noted in the presence of these individual components did not add up to the total deficit found when the whole soil was used (Figures 17 and 18). This may be due to several factors or interactions.

The organic matter contribution could not be determined as a separate soil fraction because it was destroyed during the mechanical

separation of sand, silt, and clay. Rashid (1966) found an increased  $N_2$  production when 1% dry alfalfa was added to the soil prior to receiving 200 ppm  $NO_2^-$ -N. It is conceivable that the organic matter in the whole soil could have been responsible for the kind of effect Rashid (1966) noted by adding organic matter. In recent years, Stevenson and Swaby (1963), Stevenson and Kirkman (1964), and Stevenson and Swaby (1964), in their studies observed the reaction of nitrous acid (HNO<sub>2</sub>) with humic acid, fulvic acid, lignin, lignin-building units, and polyphenols resulting in an evolution of  $N_2$ ,  $N_2O$ ,  $CO_2$ , and  $CH_3NO_2$  (Methyl nitrite). In the present studies it is surmized that the  $N_2$  or  $N_2O$  that could not be measured with flowing gas system could have been the additional deficits noted when the whole soil was used.

Many of the soluble chemical species were removed during mechanical separation of the soil. It is possible that among these chemical species there might have been iron, copper, or manganese. These might have been in the reduced forms which are actually favored at the low pH conditions. These transition metals, in the whole soil, might have stimulated conversion of the oxides of nitrogen to N<sub>2</sub> in accordance with the equation:

$$4 \text{ Cu}^{+} + 2\text{NO} + 4\text{H}^{+} \rightarrow 4 \text{ Cu}^{+2} + \text{N}_{2} + 2\text{H}_{2}\text{O} , . . . \qquad [18]$$

Instead of an additive effect of all these factors, there might be an interaction. An interaction effect is noticed in many crop response trials with regard to fertilizers. It is hard to speculate or extrapolate these ideas here because of the totally different situation.

Effect of activated organic complex. A comparison of deficits presented in Figures 16 and 19 and Table 18 shows that there is a greater deficit when incubated soil is introduced into the buffered

solution system than when the soil (unincubated) was used.

More than circumstantial evidence is available today to show that the deficit is due to the production of  $N_2$  gas (Reuss, 1963; Patil, 1963; Rashid, 1966; Mahendrappa et al., 1969). It has also been shown that  $N_2$  is produced due to reactions of nitrous acid with humic acid, fulvic acid, aminoacids, lignin, and polyphenols (Stevenson and Swaby, 1963; Stevenson and Kirkman, 1964; Stevenson and Swaby, 1964).

When the soil is incubated for 15 days under optimum temperature and moisture conditions, there will be an initial microbial population explosion. The microbial population utilizes the available carbon as the source of energy and nitrogen for body building. More complex substances eventually are released in the form or forms like humic acid, fulvic acid, and polyphenols, which are capable of producing N<sub>2</sub> or complexing nitrite (Fuhr and Bremner, 1964).

The production of  $N_2$  due to a reaction between nitrous acid and polyphenolic compounds is cited by Rashid (1966).

$$3 \bigoplus_{OH}^{OH} + 2HNO_2 \rightarrow 3 \bigoplus_{O}^{O} + 4H_2O + N_2 \dots \dots \dots [19]$$

Hydroquinone Quinone

In this reaction hydroquinone is oxidized to quinone and nitrite is reduced to  $\mathrm{N}_{2}.$ 

Vanillin may react with nitrous acid to produce  $\mathrm{N}_{2}.$ 

$$2 \qquad \bigoplus_{OH}^{OHO} + 2HNO_2 \longrightarrow 2 \qquad \bigoplus_{OH}^{O-OH} + H_2O + N_2 \quad . \quad . \quad [20]$$

The degree of reactivity of the various phenolic compounds depends on the chemical nature and position of substitution.

Dubach and Mehta (1963) have reported the presence of over 30 phenolic compounds in humic and fulvic acids. Coffin and DeLong (1960) have reported that 30% of the humic fraction from the B horizon of podzol was phenols and they were able to isolate 19 different phenolic substances.

Table 18. The comparison of deficits noted at the end of a 6-hour reaction period in the solution systems treated with 10 g incubated and non-incubated soils receiving 150 ppm  $NO_2^- -N$ 

	System	Incubated	Non-incubated
		ppm	ppm
pH 3			
Solution -	+ Dayton silty clay loam	37.9	31.0
Solution -	+ Miami silt loam	30.5	17.0
Solution -	+ Olympic silty clay loam	35.0	25.0
pH 5			
Solution -	+ Dayton silty clay loam	29.3	19.0
Solution -	⊦ Miami silt loam	27.7	19.0
Solution -	- Olympic silty clay loam	29.0	23.0

Effect of amino acids. It is important and interesting to note that greater deficits are noticed when the systems received tyrosine and tryptophan, while the presence of cystine did not make much difference.

Cystine is reduced to cysteine.
It is possible in the time period with which we were concerned, the cystine is not converted to cysteine and, as such, the presence of cystine does not make any difference in nitrite decomposition.

Tryptophan and tyrosine have produced greater deficits. This may very well be due to the production of  $\mathrm{N}_2$  according to a Van Slyke-type reaction.

Barrit (1933) has reported loss of N<sub>2</sub> as a result of the interaction of nitrite and glycine at pH 5.8. Wilson (1943) and Gerretsen and DeHoop (1957) have strongly favored nitrite-amino acid reactions. Patil (1963) has suggested the possibility of reactions of amino acids with nitrite. The study reported here and others are in conflict with those reported by Allison and Sterling (1948), Allison and Doetsch (1951), Allison, Doetsch, and Sterling (1952), Jones (1951), and Smith and Clark (1960).

# SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Experiments were conducted to study the kinetics of nitrite decomposition in acid solutions of pH 3, 4, and 5 with and without 10 g soil. In the kinetic experiments, only the nitrite remaining was analyzed and other forms of nitrogen were not determined. In another study, the solution systems of pH 3 and 5 were treated with soil, soil components, incubated soil, and amino acids. The  $NO_2^- -N$  (150 ppm) was allowed to react for 6 hours. The various forms of nitrogen- $-NO_2^- -N$ remaining,  $NO_3^- -N$  formed, and the nitrogen oxides  $(NO + NO_2)$ --produced and trapped in an alkaline permanganate system were analyzed and the deficits calculated.

From the results of these experiments the following conclusions are made.

 Nitrite decomposition in all the systems and for the duration of time studied here seems to be a first order rate reaction.

 The rate constant (k) depends on the proportion of nitrous acid present (HNO<sub>2</sub>) and not on the total nitrite; in other words, it is pH dependent.

3. The rate of nitrite decomposition increased in the presence of added soil. There is a greater increase in rate constant in the presence of soil when compared to pure solution at higher pH.

4. When soil or its components were added to the buffered solution system, all the added nitrogen was not recovered. This deficit increased with the pH of the buffered solution. 5. There were greater deficits of added nitrogen when incubated soils rather than nonincubated soils were added to the solutions.

6. The addition of amino acids to the buffered solutions increased the nitrogen deficit over control. It was theorized that the amino acids reacted with nitrous acid to produce  $N_2$ .

# IMPROVEMENTS AND FUTURE LINE OF WORK

This is the first effort made to study kinetics of nitrite nitrogen decomposed in relation to soil systems. The author is aware of the nature of temperature dependency of the reaction. The reaction should be studied in constant temperature conditions to measure kinetic changes.

In the study of the effect of soil components, instead of using sand, silt, and clay coming from 10 g soil, it would be better to use 10 g of each fraction.

An effort should be made to establish the correlation between the nitrogen deficits noted in the presence of the different soils with various factors like organic matter, heavy metals, surface area, and mineralogical make-up.

A better method of analysis of the oxides of nitrogen needs to be developed to work out the kinetics of oxides of nitrogen in this study.

A system, where  $N_2$  liberated and oxides  $(NO + NO_2)$  determination is possible, needs to be worked out to describe completely the nitrite transformation.

Attention should be given to the identification of intermediate products. This would possibly lead to a positive presentation of the mechanism and a chain of reactions involved in nitrite transformation in acid media.

The reaction needs to be run for longer duration in order to study whether the order of the reaction changes.

64

# LITERATURE CITED

- Abel, E., and E. Neusser. 1929. The vapor of nitrous acid. Montshef. 53-54:855-873.
- Albrecht, W. A., and T. M. McCalla. 1937. Nitrification of ammonia absorbed on colloidal clay. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 2:263-267.
- Aleem, M. I. H., and M. Alexander. 1960. Nutrition and physiology of Nitrobacter agilis. Appl. Microbiol. 8:80-84.
- Allison, F. E. 1955. The enigma of soil nitrogen balance sheets. Adv. Agron. 7:213-250.
- Allison, F. E. 1963. Losses of gaseous nitrogen from soils by chemical mechanisms involving nitrous acid and nitrites. Soil Sci. 96: 404-409.
- Allison, F. E., and J. H. Doetsch. 1951. Nitrogen gas production by the reaction of nitrites with amino acids in slightly acid media. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 15:163-166.
- Allison, F. E., J. H. Doetsch, and L. D. Sterling. 1952. Nitrogen gas formation by interaction of nitrites and amino acids. Soil Sci. 74:311-314.
- Allison, F. E., and D. T. Sterling. 1948. Gaseous losses of nitrogen from green plants. II. Studies with excised leaves in nutrient media. Plant Physiol. 23:601-608.
- Anderson, J. U. 1968. An improved pretreatment for minerological analysis of samples containing organic matter. Journal Series No. 172. New Mexico Univ. Agri. Exp. Sta.
- Anderson, O. E., and F. C. Boswell. 1964. The influence of low temperature and various concentrations of ammonium nitrate on nitrification in acid soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 28:525-529.
- Ashby, S. F. 1907. Some observations on nitrification. J. Agri. Sci. 2:52.
- Austin, A. T. 1961. Nitrosation in organic matter. Sci. Prog. 49: 619-640.
- Barrit, N. W. 1933. The nitrification process in soils and biological filters. Ann. Appl. Biol. 20:165-184.
- Beesly, R. B. 1914. Experiments on the rate of nitrification. J. Phys. Chem. 105:1014-1024.

- Brandt, G. H., A. R. Wolcott, and A. E. Erickson. 1964. Nitrogen transformations in soil as related to structure, moisture, and oxygen diffusion rate. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 28:71-75.
- Bray, W. M. 1932. The mechanism of reactions in aqueous solution. Examples involving equilibria and steady states. Chem. Rev. 10:161-177.
- Bray, W. M., M. E. Simpson, and A. A. MacKenzie. 1919. The volumetric determination of hydroxylamine. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 41:1963.
- Broadbent, F. E., K. B. Tyler, and G. N. Hill. 1957. Nitrification of ammoniacal fertilizers in some California soils. Hilgardia 27:247-267.
- Broadbent, F. E., K. B. Tyler, and G. N. Hill. 1958. Nitrification of fertilizers. Calif. Agri. 12:9 and 14.
- Bucholz, J. R. 1963. The decomposition of hyponitrous acid. Unpublished PhD dissertation. Univ. Calif. Library, Berkeley, Calif.
- Cady, F. B., and W. V. Bartholomew. 1961. Influence of low pO<sub>2</sub> on denitrification processes and products. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 25:362-365.
- Cady, F. B., and W. V. Bartholomew. 1963. Investigations on nitric oxide reactions in soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 27:546-549.
- Carter, J. N., and F. E. Allison. 1960. Investigations on denitrification in well aerated soils. Soil Sci. 90:173-177.
- Chaq Tyng-tsair, and W. V. Bartholomew. 1964. Nitrite transformations in acid soils and solutions. Agron. Abst. 1964:21.
- Chao, Tyng-tsair, and W. V. Bartholomew. 1968. Losses of nitrogen through interaction of inorganic nitrogen compounds. Agron. Abst. 1968:91.
- Chao, Tyng-tsair, and W. Kroontje. 1963. Inorganic nitrogen oxidation in relation to associated changes in free energy. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 27:44-47.
- Chao, Tyng-tsair, and W. Kroontje. 1966. Inorganic nitrogen transformations through the oxidation and reduction of iron. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 30:193-196.
- Chapman, H. G., and G. E. Liebig. 1952. Field and laboratory studies of nitrite accumulation in soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 16: 276-282.
- Clark, F. E., and W. E. Beard. 1960. Influences of organic matter on volatile losses of nitrogen from soils. Trans. 7th Intern. Congr. Soil Sci. 2:501-507.

- Clark, F. C., W. E. Beard, and D. H. Smith. 1960. Dissimilar nitrifying capacities of soils in relation to losses of applied nitrogen. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 24:50-54.
- Coffin, D. E., and W. A. DeLong. 1960. Extraction and characterization of organic matter of Podzol B horizon. Trans. 7th Intern. Congr. Soil Sci. 2:91-97.
- Corbet, A. S. 1934. The formation of hyponitrous acid as an intermediate compound in the biological or photochemical oxidation of ammonia to nitrous acid. I. Chemical reactions. Biochem. J. 28:1575-1582.
- Corbet, A. S. 1935a. Biological and chemical oxidation of ammonia to nitric acid. Proc. 3rd Intern. Congr. Soil Sci. 1:133-134.
- Corbet, A. S. 1935b. The formation of hyponitrous acid as an intermediate compound in the biological or photochemical oxidation of ammonia to nitrous acid. II. Microbiological oxidation. Biochem. J. 29:1086-1096.
- Dhar, N. R., A. K. Bhattacharia, and N. N. Biswas. 1933. Photonitrification in soil. Soil Sci. 35:281-284.
- Duback, P., and N. C. Mehta. 1963. The chemistry of soil humic substances. Soil Fert. Abst. 26:293-300.
- Duisberg, P. C., and T. F. Buehrer. 1954. Effect of ammonia and its oxidation products on rate of nitrification and plant growth. Soil Sci. 78:37-49.
- Emelius, H. J., and J. S. Anderson. 1938. Modern aspects of inorganic chemistry. D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., Princeton, N. J. p. 292-293.
- Ewing, J. G., and N. Bauer. 1958. Kinetics of nitrogen formation from nitrous acid and ammonium or methylammonium ions. J. Phys. Chem. 62:1449-1452.
- Ewing, J. G., and N. Bauer. 1966. An evaluation of nitrogen losses from the soil due to the reactions of ammonium ions with nitrous acid. Soil Sci. 102:64-69.
- Fraps, G. S., and A. G. Sterges. 1939. Possible losses of nitrogen from acid soils through the decomposition of nitrites. Soil Sci. 48:175-181.
- Fred, E. B., and E. J. Graul. 1916. Some factors that influence nitrate formation in acid soils. Soil Sci. 1:317-338.
- Führ, V. F., and J. M. Bremner. 1964. Undersuchung zur Fixierung des nitritstikstoffs durch die organisch masse des Bodens. Z. Land. Forschung 11:43-51.

- Gerretsen, F. C., and H. DeHoop. 1957. Nitrogen losses during nitrification in solutions and in acid sandy soils. Can. J. Microbiol. 3:359-380.
- Gray, P. 1958. The chemistry of dinitrogen tetroxide. The acid base systems as basis of reactivity. Royal Inst. Chem. (London), lectures, monographs, and reports 4:1-36.
- Gray, P., and A. D. Yoffe. 1955. The reactivity and structure of nitrogen dioxide. Chem. Rev. 55:1069-1154.
- Hall, A. D., N. H. J. Miller, and C. T. Gimingham. 1907. Nitrification in acid soils. Proc. Roy. Soc. B. 80:196-212.
- Hughes, M. N., and G. Stedman. 1963. The mechanism of the oxidation of nitrous acid by hyponitrous acid. J. Chem. Soc. 86:4230-4234.
- Jackson, M. L. 1958. Soil chemical analysis. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Inglewood Cliffs, N. J. p. 183-204.
- Jones, E. J. 1951. Losses of elemental nitrogen from soils under anaerobic conditions. Soil Sci. 71:193-196.
- Justice, J. K., and R. L. Smith. 1962. Nitrification of ammonium sulfate in a calcareous soil as influenced by combination of moisture, temperature and levels of added nitrogen. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 26:246-250.
- Kelley, W. P. 1916. Nitrification in semi-arid soils. J. Agri. Res. 7:417-437.
- Kuratti, L. G. 1966. Quantitative estimation of oxides of nitrogen produced during nonbiological transformation of nitrite nitrogen in acid media. Unpublished MS thesis. Utah State Univ. Library, Logan, Utah.
- Kuratti, L. G., and R. L. Smith. 1966. Quantitative estimations of oxides of nitrogen produced during nonbiological transformation of nitric nitrogen in acid media. Abstr. Ann. Meet. West. Soil Sci. p. 25.
- Kuratti, L. G., and R. L. Smith. 1968. Role of various components of soil in nitrite decomposition in buffered acid solution. Agron. Abst. 1968:94.
- Kuratti, L. G., and R. L. Smith. 1969. Reaction of nitrite in soil. II. Production of oxides  $(NO + NO_{2})$ . To be submitted.
- Latimer, W. M. 1952. Nitrogen, phosphorus, arsenic, antimony, and bismuth, p. 90-126. In Oxidation states of elements and their potentials in aqueous solutions. Prentice-Hall, Inc., N. Y.

Lees, H. 1948. Intermediates of soil nitrification. Nature 162:702.

- Lees, H., and J. H. Quastel. 1946. Biochemistry of nitrification in soil. I. Kinetics of and the effects of poison on soil nitrification, as studied by soil perfusion technique. Biochem. J. 40:803-815.
- Mahendrappa, M. K. 1966. The nature of non-biological nitrite transformations in acid media. Unpublished PhD dissertation. Utah State Univ. Library, Logan, Utah.
- Mahendrappa, M. K., R. L. Smith, and L. G. Kuratti. 1969. Reaction of nitrites in soil. I. Production of N<sub>2</sub> and nitrate. Submitted to Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc.
- Martin, F. E., and J. E. Cox. 1956. Nitrogen studies on black soils from Darling Downs, Queensland, Australia. J. Agri. Res. 7: 184-193.
- Martin, W. P., T. F. Bueher, and A. B. Caster. 1942. Threshold pH values for the nitrification of ammonia in desert soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 7:223-228.
- Midgely, A. R. 1932. Overliming acid soils. J. Am. Soc. Agron. 24:822-835,
- Moore, R. B. 1904. On the reaction between carbon dioxide and soluble nitrites. Amer. Chem. Soc. J. 26:959-961.
- Mortland, M. M. 1964. Nitric oxide adsorption on clay minerals. Agron. Abst. 1964:17.
- Mumford, E. M. 1914. The mechanism of nitrification. Chem. Soc. Proc. (London) p. 30-36. (Original not seen; cited in Chem. Abst. 9:499. 1915.)
- Munro, J. H. M. 1886. The formation and destruction of nitrates and nitrites in artificial solutions and in river and well waters. J. Chem. Soc. (Trans.) 49:632-681.
- Olendskii, V. 1931. The decomposition of nitrites under the influence of an acid reaction in soil. State Institute of Tobacco Investigations (USSR) Bull. 78:61-67.
- Partington, J. R., and C. C. Shaw. 1931. Investigations on hyponitrites. I. Sodium hyponitrite: Preparation and properties. Chem Soc. J. (London) 1342:2071-2080.
- Patil, S. V. 1963. The effect of urea, ammonium sulfate and organic materials on nitrite accumulation and gaseous losses of nitrogen in acid soils. Unpublished PhD dissertation. Utah State Univ. Library, Logan, Utah.

- Rao, G. G., and N. R. Dhar. 1931. Photosensitized oxidation of ammonia and ammonium salts and the problem of nitrification in soils. Soil Sci. 31:379-384.
- Rashid, M. A. 1966. The influence of organic matter and pH on the transformation of nitrites to elemental nitrogen. Unpublished PhD dissertation. Utah State Univ. Library, Logan, Utah.
- Reuss, J. O. 1963. Nitrite reactions in soils. Unpublished PhD dissertation. Utah State Univ. Library, Logan, Utah.
- Reuss, J. O., and R. L. Smith. 1962. Nitrite decomposition in soils. Agron. Abst. 1962:27.
- Reuss, J. O., and R. L. Smith. 1965. Chemical reactions of nitrites in acid soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 29:267-270.
- Robinson, R. H. 1923. Action of sodium nitrite in the soil. J. Agron. Res. 26:127.
- Ross, Gino de, 1935. Chemical nitrification in soil. Proc. 3rd Intern. Congr. Soil Sci. 1:135-137.
- Rossini, F. D., D. D. Wagman, W. H. Evans, S. Levine, and I. Joffe. 1952. Selected values of chemical thermodynamic properties. National Bureau of Standards Cir. 500. U. S. Govt. Ptg. Off., Washington, D. C.
- Shinn, M. B. 1941. Colorimetric method of determination of nitrite. Ind. and Eng. Chem. Analy. Ed. 13:33-55.
- Smith, D. H., and F. E. Clark. 1960. Volatile losses of nitrogen from acid or neutral soils or solutions containing nitrite and ammonium ions. Soil Sci. 90:86-92.
- Smith, J. H., and G. R. Burns. 1965. Ion gradient and nitrification associated with decomposition of plant material layer in soil. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 29:179-181.
- Sneed, M., and R. C. Brasted. 1956. Comprehensive inorganic chemistry. D. Van Nostrand Co., Inc., Princeton, N. J. p. 73-75.
- Soulides, F. J., and F. E. Clark. 1958. Nitrification in grassland soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 22:308-311.
- Stephenson, R. E. 1920. Nitrification in acid soils. Iowa Agri. Exp. Sta. Res. Bull. 58:329.
- Stevenson, F. J., and M. A. Kirkman. 1964. Identification of methyl nitrite in the reaction product of nitrous acid and lignin. Nature 201:107.

- Stevenson, F. J., and R. J. Swaby. 1963. Occurrence of a previously unobserved nitrogen gas in the reaction product of nitrous acid and lignin. Nature 199:97-98.
- Stevenson, F. J., and R. J. Swaby. 1964. Nitrosation of soil organic matter: I. Nature of gases evolved during nitrous acid treatment of lignins and humic substances. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc. 28: 773-778.
- Stojanovic, B. J., and M. Alexander. 1958. Effects of organic nitrogen on nitrification. Soil Sci. 86:208-215.
- Temple, J. C. 1914. Nitrification in acid or non-basic soils. Ga. Agri. Exp. Sta. Bull. 103.
- Thorne, J. M. 1961. Decomposition of nitrous acid. Unpublished report, Chem. Dept., Utah State Univ., Logan.
- Thorne, P. C. L., and E. R. Roberts. 1954. Ephraim's inorganic chemistry, 6th ed. Interscience Publishers, Inc., N. Y. 956 p.
- Turtschin, T. W. van. 1936. Zersetzung der Nitrit in mit basen ungesattigen Boden and das Problem der Nitrifikation. Pflanzenernahr. Dung. Bodenkunde, 43:170-186.
- Tyler, K. B., and F. E. Broadbent. 1960. Nitrite transformations in California soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. Proc. 24:279-282.
- Van Slyke, D. D. 1911. A method of quantitative determination of aliphatic amino groups. J. Biol. Chem. 9:185-204.
- Vogel, A. I. 1958. A text book of quantitative inorganic analysis. Theory and practice. Longmans, Green and Co., N. Y. 918 p.
- Wagner, J. H., and G. E. Smith. 1958. Nitrogen loss from soils fertilized with different nitrogen carriers. Soil Sci. 85: 125-129.
- Wahhab, A., and F. Uddin. 1954. Losses of nitrogen through reactions of ammonia and nitrite ions. Soil Sci. 78:119-126.
- Wilson, J. K. 1943. Nitrous acid and loss of nitrogen. Cornell Agri. Exp. Sta. Memo. 253:1-36.
- Wullstein, L. H., and C. M. Gilmour. 1964. Nonenzymatic gaseous loss of nitrite from clay and soil systems. Soil Sci. 97:428-430.
- Yost, D. M., and H. Russel, Jr. 1944. Nitrogen, its oxides and sulfides, p. 41-89. In Systematic inorganic chemistry. Prentice-Hall, Inc., N. Y.

APPENDIX

Table 19.	The amounts of various forms of nitrogen recovered from
	solution systems of pH 3 treated with different fractions
	of three soils and receiving 150 ppm $\mathrm{NO}_2$ -N at the end of
	a 6-hour reaction period

	Forms of N				
System	NO2 -N	$NO_3 - N$	$NO + NO_2$	Total	Deficit
	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm	ppm
Dayton silty clay loam					
Solution + sand	12.0	28.0	106.6	146.6	3.4
Solution + silt	9.5	29.0	98.3	136.8	13.2
Solution + clay	10.1	28.5	106.0	144.6	5.4
Miami silt loam					
Solution + sand	13.1	29.3	105.3	147.7	2.3
Solution + silt	10.0	26.5	104.0	140.5	9.5
Solution + clay	12.5	28.2	104.1	144.8	5.2
Olympic silty clay loam					
Splution + sand	14.0	30.2	104.1	148.3	1.7
Solution + silt	11.9	33.2	93.7	138.8	11.2
Solution + clay	11.3	31.0	99.4	141.7	8.3

# Nitrate Nitrogen Determination

# Extraction of soil for nitrite and nitrate

- 1. Weigh out 10 or 20 g soil into 250 ml erlenmeyer flask.
- 2. Add 100 m1 Ca(OH), solution.
- 3. Place flasks on mechanical shaker and shake for 5 minutes.
- 4. Let stand for 20 minutes.
- 5. Filter into numbered 125 ml erlenmeyer flasks, using small funnels. Mix the last portion of soil and extract by swirling the flask quickly and pour the soil and liquid onto the filter paper. Let stand until the extract has stopped dripping from the funnels.
- 6. Retain filtrate for NO2 and NO3 determination.

# Reagents:

- <u>Phenoldisulfonic acid</u> (C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>c</sub>OH(HSO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>).--Dissolve 200 g pure white phenol in 1200 ml concentrated H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>. Add 600 ml fuming sulfuric acid (15% free SO<sub>3</sub>); stir well, heat for 2 hours on hot water bath.
- <u>Acetic acid solution</u>.--One part glacial acetic acid and 3 parts distilled water.
- <u>Ammonium sulfamate</u>,--0,5% solution in water. Dissolve 5 g ammonium sulfamate in distilled water and dilute to 1 liter.
- Ammonium hydroxide, -- One part concentrated NH4 OH to one part distilled water.

Standard KNO3 solution.

 $\underline{Stock}.--\underline{Dissolve}$  0.722 g anhydrous  $KNO_3$  and dilute to 1 liter with distilled water. Contains 0.1 mg N/ml.

<u>Standard</u>.--Evaporate 50 ml stock KNO<sub>3</sub> solution to dryness; dissolve residue by rubbing with 2 ml phenoldisulfonic acid, dilute to 500 ml with distilled water. 1 ml = 0.01 mg N.

For preparation of standard curve use 0, 0.5, 1.0, 2.0, 3.5, 8.0, 10.0, 15.0, 20.0 ml of standard KNO<sub>3</sub> solution (1 ml = 0.01 mg N).

Treat and evaporate as outlined in "Procedure."

#### Procedure

- (a) Pipette 5 ml of the filtered Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> extract into 100 ml tall beakers.
  - (b) Pipette into extra beaker 5 ml of the Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> extracting solution.
- 2. Add 5 drops of acetic acid; swirl to mix.
- Add 0.5 ml of ammonium sulfamate solution; swirl to mix. (Add 1 ml to those samples having high NO<sub>2</sub> content.)
- 4. Place on hot plate.
- When warmed to 60 to 80 C, add 5 drops of 10% NaOH solution; swirl to mix.
- 6. Let contents evaporate to dryness.
- 7. Remove beakers from hot plate.
- Add (from pipette) 2 ml of phenoldisulfonic acid to the beakers in such a way that the residue will be moistened quickly and thoroughly.
- Rub sides of beakers with a stirring rod to bring the phenoldisulfonic acid in contact with any of the nitrates that may have spattered onto the wall on drying.
- 10. Let stand about 20 minutes (or longer) or until the residue is dissolved.
- 11. Add 34 ml of distilled water to beaker.
- Add NH<sub>4</sub>OH solution (1:1) to beaker until a permanent yellow color remains (14 ml). Perform this step under the fume hood.
- 13. Let cool, Make further dilution if color is too intense. Record final volume.
- 14. Mix contents by stirring with stirring rod or swirling carefully and read on electrophotometer after balancing the bridge and setting null adjustment with a blank (Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> solution).

# Reagents:

- <u>Sulfanilamide</u>.--0.2% solution in water. Dissolve 4 g p-aminobenzenesulfanilamide in distilled water in 2000 ml volumetric flask. Dilute to mark, then transfer to storage bottle. Keep tightly stoppered in refrigerator. Prepare a new solution one or two days before required, or at least every month.
- <u>Hydrochloric acid</u>,--1 to 1 dilution of the concentrated acid with distilled water.

Coupling reagent.--Dissolve 1 g N-(1-Naphthyl)-Ethylenediamine dihydrochloride in 1 liter distilled water. Store in <u>dark</u> bottle.

# Sodium nitrite standard

- 1. Employing assayed  $\rm NaNO_2$  prepare an accurately known solution containing about 0.005 mg of N per ml (Solution A).
- 2. Dilute 50 ml of above solution to 100 ml in volumetric flask (Solution B).
- With a volumetric pipette measure 0.5, 1.0, 1.5, 1.8 ml of A, and 1, 2, 4 ml of B into 50 ml volumetric flasks.
- 4. Add 20 ml of Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> extracting solution (<u>filtered</u>) to each.
- 5. Treat as outline in steps 2 to 7 of "Procedure."
- 6. Prepare graph.
- Keep standard sodium nitrite solution <u>tightly</u> stoppered, in refrigerator.

# Procedure:

- (a) Pipette 20 ml of the filtered Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> soil extract into 50 ml volumetric flasks. Use smaller aliquot (2 to 5 ml) if NO<sub>2</sub> content of sample is high. Make up to 20 ml with Ca(OH)<sub>2</sub> solution.
  - (b) Pipette 20 ml of the  $Ca(OH)_2$  <u>extracting solution</u> into an extra 50 ml volumetric flask.
  - (c) Fill burettes with 50% HCl, 0.2% sulfanilamide and coupling reagent.
- 2. From a burette add 1 ml of 50% HCl.
- 3. From a burette add 5 ml of 0.2% sulfanilamide solution.
- 4. Wait 3 minutes.
  - Note: Steps 2 and 3 can be performed on 10 samples within the 3 minutes as follows: Add the HCl and the sulfanilamide to the first sample, then set the time clock for 3 minutes.

Then quickly add the HCl and sulfanilamide to the other 9 samples in succession.

- 5. At the end of the 3-minute interval, begin adding 1 ml of the coupling reagent to each sample, timing the additions so that each sample will have remained at 3 minutes after the addition of sulfanilamide.
- 6. Make up to volume with distilled water.
- If the color is too dark, take smaller quantities of aliquot and develop color.
- Read on electrophotometer, using the blank to set the null point. Use 525-B filter or read at 550 mµ wavelength.

#### Sodium Nitrite

#### Tests for identity:

Dry about 1 g sodium nitrite to constant weight over sulfuric acid, weigh accurately in a stoppered weighing-bottle, dissolve the salt in a volumetric flask with sufficient distilled water to make 100 ml and add 10 ml of this solution, from a pipette, to a mixture of 40 ml of tenthnormal potassium permanganate, 100 ml of distilled water, and 5 ml of sulfuric acid. When adding the sodium nitrite solution, immerse the tip of the pipette beneath the surface of the permanganate mixture. Warm the liquid to 40 C, allow it to stand for 5 minutes, and add 25 ml of tenth-normal oxalic acid or sodium oxalate. Heat the mixture to about 80 C and titrate with tenth-normal potassium permanganate. Each ml of tenth-normal potassium permanganate is equivalent to 0.003450 g NaNO<sub>2</sub>.

### Storage:

Preserve sodium nitrite in air-tight containers in refrigerator.

#### Analysis of Alkaline Permanganate Traps

# for Oxides of Nitrogen

The oxides of nitrogen that dissolve in the traps will be oxidized to nitrate by the  $\rm KMnO_4$ . Thus this procedure is designed to destroy the color of the  $\rm KMnO_4$  and permit colorimetric nitrate determination.

#### Reagents:

1. Trapping solution of alkaline permanganate 0.2  $\underline{\text{M}}$  KMnO4 in 2  $\underline{\text{N}}$  KOH

Dissolve 112.2 g reagent grade KOH in about 800 ml of distilled water. Add 31.7 g KMnO4, warm and stir till solution is complete. Transfer to l liter volumetric flask and make up to volume. Store in brown bottle away from direct light.

# 2. Oxalate sulfuric acid solution 0.6 $\underline{M}$ Na<sub>2</sub>C<sub>2</sub>O<sub>4</sub> in 7 $\underline{N}$ H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>

Place about 1200 ml distilled water in a 2 liter beaker. Add carefully 390 ml concentrated  $H_2SO_4$ . Weigh out and add 160.6 g  $Na_2C_2O_4$ . Stir until oxalate is completely dissolved, transfer to 2 liter volumetric flask and make up to volume. Store in brown plastic bottle; the oxalate will attack glass.

3. 5 N NaOH

Weigh out 200 g reagent grade NaOH and dissolve in about 800 ml distilled water. Allow to cool; transfer to l liter volumetric flask and make to volume.

# Procedure:

Wash the entire contents (20 ml) of the trap into a 125 ml beaker. Avoid using excess water. A blank of unused trap solution should be included. Add 20 ml of reagent 2 (acid and oxalate). In a few minutes the reaction should be complete and the material should be colorless. Warming on the hot plate will facilitate reaction. Incomplete reaction may be the result of insufficient acidity or insufficient oxalate.

After slight warming add 30 ml of reagent 3 (5 <u>N</u> NaOH) to each beaker. Precipitation will occur at this point and the base must be in sufficient quantities to make the solution alkaline. Upon standing a slight brown scum of  $MnO_2$  should form on the surface. Failure of this to form may be due to insufficient base.

The precipitate should be digested with gentle warming for at least 0.5 hour. The material is then filtered into 250 ml volumetric flask. This filtration must be quantitative and the residue washed several times with small portions of warm water. The volume is then made to 250 ml and an aliquot (5 ml) taken for the standard phenoldisulphonic acid nitrate determination. The addition of ammonium sulfamate to destroy nitrites is unnecessary The blank carried through the entire procedure is used to set the zero on the spectrophotometer.

#### Standard curve and calculations:

KNO3 standard--200 µg N/ml

1.44 g  $\text{KNO}_{2}$  made up to 1 liter volume.

Add 0, 1, 2, 3, . . . 8 ml of  $\rm KNO_3$  standard to a series of beakers containing 5 ml KMnO\_4 trap solution. Carry through the procedure as outlined taking a 5 ml aliquot for nitrate determination. Carry through the standard nitrate procedure making up the colored solution to 50 ml for reading on the spectrophotometer. There will now be 0, 10, 20, . . . 80 µg N per 50 ml. Read on spectrophotometer and plot curve.

Determine from the curve the ratio  $\mu g$  N/optical density (inverse of slope if optical density is plotted on the y axis and  $\mu g$  on the x).

Ratio x opt. den. x 50 = ppm N

Ratio determined by Reuss (1963) was 128.

#### Notes

Do not use excess water to wash the trap solution into the beaker or for washing the precipitate as the total volume must be less than 1000 ml. The destruction of  $\text{KMnO}_4$  by  $\text{C}_2\text{O}_4^{-}$  requires high acidity, and incomplete reaction at this point is often the result of insufficient acidity. If the traps are to be exposed to large amounts of  $\text{CO}_2$ evolution, it may be necessary to use 4 <u>N</u> KOH and/or 10 ml trapping solution per trap. If more trapping solution is used the amounts or the strengths of reagents No. 2 and 3 may be increased accordingly. If 4 <u>N</u> KOH is used in the trap solution, the acidity of reagent 2 should be increased to 9 N.

After the residue from the filtration is exposed to the air, it should assume a dark brown color. If it remains gray add a ml or two of NaOH to the filtrate. If any precipitate occurs, refilter.

# VITA

Laxman Gururao Kuratti

Candidate for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Dissertation: Catalytic Effect of Soil Components on the Nitrite Transformation in Buffer Acid Solutions

Major Field: Soil Science

Biographical Information:

- Personal Data: Born in Gadag, Mysore State, India, March 18, 1937, son of Gururao Virupax and Indirabai G. Kuratti; married.
- Education: Attended elementary school, graduated from Vidyaranya High School in 1954; received the Bachelor of Science degree in 1958 with a major in agriculture; received the Master of Science degree in 1963 with a major in Agronomy, from Karnatak University, Dharwar, Mysore State, India; received a Master of Science with a major in Soil Chemistry from Utah State University, Logan, Utah, in 1966; completed requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree at Utah State University in 1969.
- Professional Experience: September 1964 to January 1969, Graduate Research Assistant, Department of Soils and Meteorology, Utah State University; May 1959 to June 1964, Lecturer in Agronomy in Karnatak University, Dharwar; summer jobs held during undergraduate years include management of farm, printing press in Dharwar; underwent junior N.C.C. training in High School.